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At a Glance

New domicile with Swiss ISIN

Financing

Zurich, Switzerland

Two capital increases of USD 4.2 million executed.

CH0522213468

Convertible note of USD 1.7 million exercised.
Convertible subordinated loan of up to
USD 12.5 million secured.

New strategic direction

Path towards global commercialisation

Transformation from fintech to healthtech.

Trial launch of Teman Sehat’s Covid-19 passport
functionalities in Pekanbaru, Indonesia: 200,000
users.

Focus on mobile app with a digital passporting
service Teman Sehat (Health Buddy) and a
non-invasive, saliva-based diagnostic test for
the detection of Covid-19 (AptameX).

Partnership with Udayana University in Bali,
Indonesia for Covid-19 testing research.

Secured exclusive commercial rights from
Regenacellx.sl to a DNA aptamer-based testing
technology for the detection of the SARS-CoV-2
virus that causes Covid-19 as well as a strategy
to protect the intellectual property, providing
freedom to operate.

Promising test results and joint venture
PT Achiko Medika Indonesia to be established
for the production, distribution and marketing
of the test platform in Indonesia.

Number of employees*

Strengthened expertise

46

New CEO and CFO and refocused Executive
Committee.

Zurich office: 6
Jakarta office: 26
Seoul office: 3
Global: 11

Advisory Board established with international
experts in the fields of medtech, biotech and
innovation.

* Achiko Group employs 29 people in full-time equivalents (FTE) and 17 long-term consultants (in FTE).
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Message from our Chairperson

Allen Wu, Chairperson

Dear Shareholders,

pandemic requires a multi-faceted and multi-layered

The year 2020 was one of audacity, determination and

approach that includes social distancing, mask wear-

transformation. Significant from an operational perspec-

ing, hand hygiene and the implementation of vaccines.

tive is our relocation in June 2020 to Switzerland, a leading

But even when we succeed in controlling the spread of

country in the sectors of health and medical technology.

Covid-19, comprehensive testing will continue to play a

This supports our strategic plans to increase our footprint

significant role.

in Europe.
Our partnership with Regenacellx.sl and exclusive comFrom an entrepreneurial perspective, it is the rise of

mercialisation rights allow us to meaningfully contribute

SARS-CoV 2 (Covid-19) and the fact that we responded to

to this growing need for diagnostic testing globally, as test-

this need by developing a healthtech solution that can

ing is projected to move from reactive to proactive daily

play an important role in the future management of this

testing. Initial study results for AptameX’s sensitivity and

global pandemic. For this, we forged new initiatives and I

specificity are promising and we are looking forward to

am optimistic for what lies ahead.

completing regulatory approval and commercialisation
of the AptameX technology in 2021. DNA aptamer tech-

With the emergence of Covid-19, we saw the need for a

nology is not just limited to Covid-19. It can be applied to

diagnostic testing and management system that would

various pathogens. This will be a strategic area of growth

work on a daily and regular basis, helping to control the

for Achiko.

spread of the virus and allowing people to return to their
pre-pandemic lives as quickly as possible. To achieve this,

We have established an advisory board and strength-

we leveraged our fintech experience and transformed our

ened our senior management team to reflect our shift to

mobile payments wallet product into Teman Sehat (Health

healthtech and will continue to evolve the business in this

Buddy), a mobile app that integrates diagnostic testing

direction.

results and also acts as a digital passport to fit in seamlessly and safely with our users’ daily lives.

Personally, and on behalf of the Board of Directors, I would
like to thank our shareholders, partners, employees and

To expand our healthtech stack, we exclusively licensed a

customers for their continued support, as we look forward

non-invasive, saliva-based diagnostic test for the detec-

to a very exciting year ahead.

tion of Covid-19 based on DNA aptamer technology from
Regenacellx.sl. The test with the name AptameX is more
affordable and provides faster results compared to RT-PCR

Allen Wu

and rapid antigen tests on the market. Battling the global

Chairperson
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Message from our CEO

Steven Wern-Yi Goh, CEO

Dear Shareholders,

At the time of writing, society is fundamentally in awe of the

When Achiko AG listed at the end of 2019, we had a vision of a

scientific world’s progress in managing the pandemic; we

fintech company operating in payments, and firstly in Indo-

have borne witness to vaccine production delivered at an

nesia. With the almost immediate advent of the Covid-19

unprecedented rate and with exceptional efficacy. Logisti-

pandemic, 2020 quickly became a year of challenges and

cal challenges and the expected viral mutations, however,

change.  

have impeded the race towards global immunity and consequently (and perhaps opportunistically for Achiko) has shed

Achiko AG was originally incorporated as a Cayman’s com-

light on what it is really going to be required for the world’s

pany, listed in Zurich, Switzerland and with a payments busi-

7.8 billion people to overcome the pandemic.

ness distributed across parts of Asia. A combination of the
pandemic-related stop on travelling, regulatory challenges

Unlike in the case of SARS (2003) and MERS 2.0 (2012),

as a Cayman’s company and the way the company was

where infrastructure permitted us to detect, manage and

organised made it increasingly apparent that the payments

ultimately contain the outbreaks, we now believe that new

business may not yield a return to our investors.

diagnostics and testing will be a part of our lives for many
years to come and at the forefront of managing the spread

Therefore, we have adapted to the changing and challeng-

of infection. Moreover, those solutions will likely change from

ing landscape and are now positioned to become a leading

the traditional point-of-care to point-of-need solutions. The

diagnostics and public assurance company in 2021 and

ubiquity of technology and innovations in combination

beyond.

with more traditional life sciences present opportunities for
more advanced solutions in addition to incorporating simple

The Pandemic

hands, space and face (mask) elements1 into social distanc-

In mid-January 2020, reports of Covid-19 started to spread

ing measures, all of which were formalised in a pre-smart-

across Asia. With the prior experience of SARS and MERS,

phone era. In 2021 and beyond, we may be able to tackle

the region moved faster than both its North American and

Covid-19, its possible successors and a wider range of dis-

European counterparts, quickly bringing the issue into the

eases more effectively thanks to innovative technologies.

public eye and implementing stringent pandemic con-

Achiko is at the forefront of being able to exploit both bio-

trol measures. By the second quarter of 2020, the impact

technology and information technologies together.

of Covid-19 on healthcare, people’s lives and the economy
were being felt in Europe, especially in Italy, as well as across

To create new value for our shareholders, we have followed a

the United States of America.

two-pronged approach. Firstly, responding to the pandemic,

1. Roberts, Siobhan, ‘The Swiss Cheese Model of Pandemic Defense’, The New York Times, 5 December 2020,
https://www.nytimes.com/2020/12/05/health/coronavirus-swiss-cheese-infection-mackay.html

Message from our CEO

Achiko Annual Report 2020

The Swiss Cheese Respiratory Virus Pandemic Defence recognising
that no single intervention is perfect at preventing spread1
PHYSICAL DISTANCE
Stay home if sick

MASKS

HAND HYGIENE
Cough etiquette

AVOID TOUCHING
Your face

IF CROWDED
Limit your time

FAST & SENSITIVE
Testing & tracing

VENTILATION
Outdoors, air ﬁltration

GOVERNMENT
MESSAGING
& Financial support

PERSONAL RESPONSIBLITIES

QUARANTINE
& Isolation

VACCINES

SHARED RESPONSIBLITIES

Each intervention (layer) has imperfections (holes) Multiple layers improve success.

we transformed our existing payment platform assets and

nations, people will feel confident again, economic activ-

built a Covid-19 check-in and wallet application, Teman

ity will likely thrive once more, and a return to our pre-pan-

Sehat. Enabling the billing and payment of tests, and mobile

demic lives will likely be possible.

delivery of test results in a passport/QR code format, Teman
Sehat is the platform for our licensed biotechnology. To this

The Company is now moving to commercialisation and

end, complementing Teman Sehat, we secured the com-

expansion. With Teman Sehat, over 200,000 registrations

mercialisation rights for a novel diagnostic test, AptameX

as at year-end and a few thousand partner locations have

(formerly Project Gumnuts).

taught us what works and what does not. We learned from
our mistakes, made many changes to the management

The combination of the two may offer a range of stake-

team and are now on the brink of filing for product approvals

holder groups from governments, to workplaces, to resorts,

in key countries in Asia and beyond.

to cruise ships, to public institutions such as schools, the ability to provide cost-effective and near universal testing and

We have established initial production capabilities in Europe

assurance services. Thanks to both mass testing and vacci-

and in Asia, on the basis of comprehensive testing in Spain

1. Mackay, Ian M. (2020): The Swiss Cheese Respiratory Virus Defence. figshare. Figure.
https://doi.org/10.6084/m9.figshare.13082618.v21
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and Indonesia.  In Indonesia, a country of over 280 million

als, in the first instance with the Ministry of Health, Indonesia

people spread over 6,000 islands, we have established a joint

and then moving the technology into test kits and accessing

venture to meet local ownership and approval requirements

the market as soon as practicable in 2021.

and brought in key partners to make our solution a success.
We envisage that later this year, we will likely be in a position

Subsequently, as we progressed with the development of

to provide an element of security to millions of Indonesians’

AptameX, an Advisory Board was established in October

lives with several tests a month, each at an affordable price.

2020, consisting of international experts in medtech, biotech

For our shareholders, that means both licensing and profit

and innovation. We continued to strengthen our leadership

share incomes.

team in January 2021 with the appointment of biotechnology scientist and entrepreneur Dr Morris S. Berrie to the

Beyond Indonesia, we are in advanced stages in our plans to

position of President.

expand to other countries and focus on the sale of the key
components for testing with AptameX (e.g. the active agent)

Since my appointment as Chief Executive Officer, I have

together with a licensing fee for the use of the technology as

been impressed with the team and I am very grateful for

well as partners who will manufacture and distribute their

their collective efforts in transforming from a fintech into

own testing kits, as go-to-market strategies may vary locally.

a healthtech business, creating a diagnostic product that

Finances and Management

world manage Covid-19 in people’s daily lives.

is very much in demand globally, and one that will help the
As the Covid-19 global pandemic unfolded, we transitioned
the Company in order that we could pursue the opportu-

As 2021 progresses, I am looking forward to the launch of

nity presented to us in healthcare technology. As is typical

AptameX that, together with Teman Sehat, will deliver a sim-

for this type of transition, the Company faces challenges in

ple, fast, affordable, non-invasive and accessible solution to

both financing and operations, which the strategic changes

help millions of people get back to a new normal. We are

will directly tackle. To help drive the strategic change, in

securing licensing partnerships around the world as we tar-

July, I expanded my role as Board Director to lead the team

get a global footprint beyond Indonesia.

as Chief Executive Officer and appointed Swiss-based
Ruediger Petrikowski as Chief Financial Officer ad interim.

I would like to say a big thank you to our shareholders and

To date, these changes have done a phenomenal job driving

business partners for their continued support of the Com-

results and accelerating the transformation.

pany. The contributions from the Board, management and
staff have been invaluable. The future is bright and I am look-

Development for AptameX began in June 2020 and Regen-

ing forward to delivering on the great opportunities ahead.

acellx.sl filed a provisional patent in August 2020. We conducted a study at the University of Rovira, Tarragona, Spain,

Yours Sincerely,

followed by studies in Spain and Indonesia conducted by IS
Global (The Barcelona Institute for Global Health) and both
Riau University and Madani Pekanbaru City District Hospital.

Steven Wern-Yi Goh

The next steps will see the completion of regulatory approv-

Chief Executive Officer

Business Review
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Business Review

The global Covid-19 pandemic has left its mark worldwide for

and wages due to the organisational build-up to strengthen

the year 2020. Not only did the pandemic affect the Group’s

the Group's competences for the launch of its mobile app

business performance, but it has also affected the global

with a digital passporting service Teman Sehat and com-

economic situation. The impact of the Covid-19 pandemic

mercialisation of AptameX, a non-invasive, saliva-based

continues to evolve as of the date of this report. The Board

diagnostic test for the detection of Covid-19. The Company

of Directors is actively monitoring the impact of the global

has fully impaired the goodwill of USD 1.6 million on the

situation on its financial condition, liquidity, operations,

assumption that there will not be sufficient revenue and

industry and workforce. Given the evolution of the Covid-19

gross profit generated by the Group.

pandemic, it is not possible to quantify its potential financial impact as there is a high degree of uncertainty as to the

The higher gross profit was offset by higher operating

extent and duration of the pandemic, government meas-

expenses, which resulted in a loss of USD 14.1 million in 2020

ures and consumer behaviour.

compared to a loss of USD 7.3 million in 2019.

Achiko has taken necessary and deliberate actions to protect

In 2020, the Company ensured its financing with share

the Group’s business from severe impact. The Company has

subscriptions, convertible notes, capital increases and

developed Teman Sehat and holds sole commercialisation

other measures such as: (i) a share subscription for media

rights to the technology underlying AptameX. Teman Sehat

placement with PT Media Nusantara Citra Tbk (“MNC”) of  

was launched in June 2020 in the areas of South Tangerang

USD 2 million in spring 2020, (ii) a convertible note with

and Pekanbaru, Indonesia, as approved by the Indonesian

Negma Group Ltd (“Negma”) of USD 2.2 (CHF 2.0) million

government. In August 2020, the Company filed a provisional

on 16 July 2020, (iii) a capital increase of USD 3.2 million on

patent for a novel diagnostic testing technology for Covid-19

31 October 2020 and USD 1 million on 11 December 2020, and

and entered into a license agreement with Regenacellx.sl,

(iv) a convertible subordinated loan facility with US-based

which grants commercialisation rights in exchange for roy-

fund manager Yorkville Advisors Global LP (“Yorkville”) of

alty payments and technical advice. The test kit delivers fast

up to USD 12 million with a committed amount of USD 2.5

results and the testing experience is comparable to brushing

million on 25 November 2020.

one’s teeth. The Company partnered with Udayana University in Bali to conduct a study to better understand accept-

Subsequent to 31 December 2020, on 9 February 2021, the

ance of mass testing in the broader population.

Company drew down additional funds in the amount of
USD 0.5 million and on 15 April 2021 another USD 0.5 mil-

The revenue of the reporting period does not reflect any rev-

lion of the uncommitted Yorkville loan facility amount of

enue of the new businesses. The disclosed revenue reflects

USD 9.5 million. In addition, on 8 March 2021, the Company

the existing payment service business which has been

completed the subordinated loan facility of USD 1 (CHF 0.9)

affected by the overall market uncertainty in 2020. Achiko

million with Negma based on the binding term sheet

generated revenue of USD 2.9 million in 2020, a decline of

announced on 30 November 2020.

57% compared to USD 6.5 million in the same period last
year. Despite the revenue decline, gross profit increased to

Selling AptameX on its own or combined with its mobile app

USD 0.4 million compared to USD 0.3 million in 2019, mainly

Teman Sehat, the Company believes that the technology

driven by a one-time special effect.

can play a crucial role in solving the world’s pandemic problem and returning to our normal lives. The Board of Directors

Operating expenses heavily increased in 2020 due to higher

and the management believe that the Group’s performance

administrative expenses and the impairment of goodwill.

can gradually improve both financially and operationally by

Administrative expenses increased to USD 11.7 million com-

implementing the Group’s strategy of evolving into a health-

pared to USD 6.2 million in 2019 because of higher (i) share

tech company.

option expenses of USD 3.4 million due to an increased number of vested shares, (ii) professional fees and (iii) salaries
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Corporate Governance

Achiko AG (the “Company”) is a Swiss stock corporation (‘Aktiengesellschaft’), which was
initially incorporated as an exempted limited liability company under the laws of the Cayman
Islands on 25 May 2018. Since 8 November 2019, the Company has been listed on SIX Swiss
Exchange. On 18 June 2020, the Company re-incorporated and registered as a Swiss stock
corporation in Switzerland and therefore Swiss law applies accordingly. The corporate
governance principles and rules are laid out in the Articles of Association of the Company
(https://www.achiko.com/aoa/).Further, the Company takes into account the recommendations of the Swiss Code of Best Corporate Governance.
As a basis of corporate governance disclosure, this Corporate Governance Report takes into
account the Directive on Information relating to Corporate Governance dated 20 June 2019
(the “Directive”) published by SIX Exchange Regulation Ltd. Additional information can be
found in the Compensation Report and the Financial Report section of this Annual Report.
The former legal framework under Cayman Islands law is outlined in the Corporate Governance Report of the Annual Report 2019 of the Company.

1. Group Structure and Shareholders
1.1 Group Structure
The registered address of the Company is at Tessinerplatz 7, CH-8002 Zurich, Switzerland. The
Company functions as a holding company without substantive operations as its business is
conducted through subsidiaries and consolidated affiliated entities.
The Company has been listed on SIX Swiss Exchange (ACHI, ISIN: KYG0101M1024) since
8 November 2019 as an exempted Cayman Islands company. At the Company’s General
Meeting held on 18 June 2020, a resolution was passed to redomicile the Company to Switzerland, which resulted in an updated ISIN (ACHI, ISIN: CH0522213468) for the Company.
The Achiko Group (the “Group”), consists of the following entities:
1. Globimedia Network Pte. Ltd. (“Globimedia”)
Globimedia is a 100% subsidiary and is incorporated in Singapore, with its registered
address at SBF Center, 160 Robinson Road #24 – 09, Singapore.
2. Gamespark Interactive Limited (“Gamespark”)
Gamespark is a 100% subsidiary and is incorporated in Hong Kong, with its registered
address at Room 1405, 135 Bonham Strand Trade Centre, Sheung Wan, Hong Kong.
3. PT. Progressivmedia Indonesia (“PTPI”)
PTPI is a 100%-controlled so-called variable interest entity (“VIE”)1 incorporated in
Indonesia, with its registered address at Wisma Barito Pacific Tower A 1st Floor, Jalan
Letnan Jenderal S Parman Kav. 62 – 63, Slipi, Palmerah, Jakarta Barat, Indonesia.

1. The laws and regulations in Indonesia place restrictions on foreign investments in and ownership of entities
engaged in a number of business activities. Therefore, foreign investments can be held via a VIE structure. In this
respect, the Company owns the PTPI business in Indonesia indirectly through contractual agreements. To this end,
the Company has entered into a series of contractual arrangements with PTPI, its shareholders, which enables the
Company to: (i) exercise effective control over PTPI; (ii) receive substantially all of the economic benefits and absorb
losses of PTPI; and (iii) have an exclusive call option to purchase all or part of the equity interests in and/or assets of
PTPI if and when permitted under the relevant laws. Because of these contractual arrangements, the Company
has the control over, and is the primary beneficiary of PTPI. The current shareholders of PTPI are two of our trusted
employees, whom the Company has provided with loans to acquire shares in PTPI.

Achiko Annual Report 2020
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4. Kryptonite Korea Co., Ltd. (“Kryptonite”)
Kryptonite is a 100% subsidiary and is incorporated in South Korea, with its registered
address at 3rd Floor, 38-2, Eonju-ro 164-gil Gangnam-gu, Seoul, Republic of Korea.
5. Achiko Switzerland AG. (“Achiko Switzerland”)
Achiko Switzerland is a 100% subsidiary and is incorporated in Switzerland, with its
registered address at Tessinerplatz 7, CH-8002 Zurich, Switzerland.
On 12 February 2021, the Company and PT Indonesia Farma Medis signed an agreement to
establish the joint venture company PT Achiko Medika Indonesia for the production, distribution and marketing of a non-invasive, saliva-based diagnostic test for the detection of
Covid-19 (AptameX) for Indonesia. The Company will hold 50% in the joint venture.
Upon incorporation of the joint venture company, Achiko’s participation will be included in
the Group’s organisation accordingly.
For information regarding the composition of the Group, please refer to Notes 1, 2 and 3 of
the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2020
of this Annual Report.
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The internal organisational structure of the Company is as follows:

Board of Directors

Advisory Board

CEO
Steven Wern-Yi Goh

COO
Christopher Young

CFO ad interim
Ruediger Petrikowski

President
Dr Morris S. Berrie

Since 29 July 2020, Steven Goh acts as CEO in addition to his board membership. Ruediger
Petrikowski joined the Company on 20 July 2020 and has acted as CFO ad interim since
29 July 2020. On 1 January 2021, Dr Morris S. Berrie joined the Company and supports the
CEO with a strong focus on commercialisation and financing.

1.2 Significant Shareholders
The below overview sets out the significant shareholdings in accordance with the information that has been published on the reporting and publication platform of the Disclosure
Office of SIX Swiss Exchange subject to article 120 et seqq. of the Financial Market
Infrastructure Act.

Direct shareholder

Ultimate beneficial owner

Shares

Percentage

Heracles Investment Group Limited, Suite No. 3442,
c/o 8 Temasek Boulevard, #35-03 Suntec Tower 3, Singapore

Steven Wern-Yi Goh

13,971,612

13.20%

PT Media Nusantara Citra Tbk

–

10,000,000

9.45%

5,500,000

5.20%

Neural Networks Limited, 30 de Castro Street, Wickhams
Cay 1, P.O. Box 4519, Road Town, Tortola, British Virgin Islands

Kenneth Ting

The percentage is calculated on the total number of shares recorded in the commercial
register as of 31 December 2020, which amounted to 105,831,805.
Lock-up agreement
With the listing on 8 November 2019, a lock-up agreement had been entered into between
the Company and 27 lock-up holders of shares for a period of twelve months. This lock-up
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period expired on 8 November 2020. In addition, the lock-up for 5,000,000 shares of Swiss
Merchant Group AG (ultimate beneficiary: Christian Mantzke Beck) expired on 8 November 2020. Following the expiration of the lock-up period, any shareholder from the lock-up
holders is responsible for disclosing any significant shareholding individually.
All disclosures of significant shareholdings are published on the website of the SIX Swiss
Exchange Disclosure Office (https://www.ser-ag.com/en/resources/notifications-marketparticipants/significant-shareholders.html).

1.3 Cross-shareholdings
There are no cross-shareholdings exceeding 5% of the capital shareholdings or voting rights.

2. Capital Structure
2.1 Capital
On 31 December 2020 (the “reporting date”), the share capital of the Company amounted
to CHF 1,058,318.05 and was divided into 105,831,805 registered shares with a par value of
CHF 0.01. On 14 December 2020, USD 100,000 of the subordinated convertible loan with
Yorkville had been converted into 298,720 additional shares, which were issued from the
conditional capital for financing, acquisitions and other purposes and were subsequently
registered. At the reporting date, the Company had issued a total amount of 106,130,525
ordinary shares with a par value of CHF 0.01 each, of which the amount fully paid-in totalled
a share capital of CHF 1,061,305.25.

2.2 Authorised and Conditional Capital
As at the reporting date, the authorised share capital of the Company was CHF 1,058,318.05,
divided into 105,831,805 ordinary shares of CHF 0.01 par value each. The Board of Directors is
authorised to increase the share capital of the Company at any time until 18 June 2022, with a
maximum amount of CHF 17,267.65 by way of issuance of a maximum of 1,726,765 registered
shares with a par value of CHF 0.01 each to be fully paid-in.
In addition, the Company had a total conditional share capital of 22,412,035 shares divided
into (i) 13,448,821 shares to exercise options under the Company’s employee stock option plan
(the “ESOP”) and 8,963,214 shares for financings, acquisitions, and other purposes including
convertible loan facilities.
On 11 February 2021, an extraordinary Shareholders Meeting approved the renewal of the
authorised share capital in article 2.2 of the Articles of Association, authorising the Board
of Directors to increase the share capital at any time until 11 February 2023 by a maximum
amount of CHF 529,159.02 by issuance of a maximum of 52,915,902 registered shares with a
par value of CHF 0.01 each, to be fully paid-in.
In addition, the shareholders approved the renewal of the conditional share capital in
articles 2.3 and 2.4 of the Articles of Association under the exclusion of the pre-

Corporate Governance

subscription rights of the shareholders. Article 2.3 for employee participations allows
for the issuance of up to 19,049,725 fully paid-in registered shares with a par value of
CHF 0.01 each, up to an amount of CHF 190,497.25. Article 2.4 for financing, acquisitions and other purposes allows for the issuance of up to 33,866,177 fully paid-in registered shares with a par value of CHF 0.01 each, up to an amount of CHF 338,661.77.
On 16 March 2021, the conditional capital increase of USD 1 million resulted in an authorised
share capital of CHF 1,089,039.00, divided into 108,903,900 ordinary shares and a conditional
share capital pursuant to article 2.4 of CHF 307,940.82, divided into 30,794,082 fully paid-in
registered shares.
For more information regarding the Company’s convertible loan facilities and the ESOP,
please refer to section 2.7 Convertible Bonds and Options of this Corporate Governance
Report.

2.3 Changes in Capital
Changes in capital since incorporation on 25 May 2018 until 31 December 2019
On its incorporation, the authorised share capital of the Company was USD 100,000, divided
into 100,000,000 ordinary shares with a par value of USD 0.001.
On 25 September 2018, the Company – by ordinary resolution of its shareholders – increased
its authorised share capital from USD 100,000 to USD 500,000, divided into 500,000,000
ordinary shares with a par value of USD 0.001.
On 31 December 2018, the total capital increases amounted to USD 3.2 million, corresponding to 76,356,320 shares. In 2019, the total capital increase (including the execution of the
employee stock option plan) amounted to USD 8.5 million, corresponding to 89,632,142 ordinary shares as of 31 December 2019. The total authorised number of shares of the Company
was 500,000,000 shares as of 31 December 2019, with a par value of USD 0.001 per share.

Outstanding portion of subscription note not materialised
On 10 July 2019, the Company signed with Mr Prasan Sirinnont (Indogulf Group Limited) a
subscription note of USD 3 million face value, payable 7 days after listing at a price of USD 0.70
per share. As of 31 December 2019, an amount of USD 1.2 million from the subscription note
was outstanding. This outstanding portion has and will not be materialised based on a management assessment.

Redenomination of share capital
As a result of the redomiciliation of the Company under Swiss law on 18 June 2020, the share
capital was redenominated from USD 0.001 par value per share to CHF 0.01 par value per
share. An amount of USD 852,930 was reallocated from share premium to share capital.

Capital increase on 30 October 2020
A share capital increase of 13,165,476 shares to 102,797,618 shares with a total amount of
USD 3.2 million was executed on 30 October 2020. The new shares were issued out of the

Achiko Annual Report 2020
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existing authorised capital and were used towards settling existing commitments and to
support the updated strategy of the Company.

Capital increase on 11 December 2020
A share capital increase of 3,034,187 shares to 105,831,805 shares with a total amount of
USD 1 million was executed on 11 December 2020 to satisfy claims from a convertible note
previously issued by the Company. The new shares were issued out of the existing authorised capital.

Conversion of subordinated loan facility on 14 December 2020
On 14 December 2020, USD 100,000 of the subordinated convertible loan with Yorkville was
converted into 298,720 additional shares, which were issued from the conditional capital
and were subsequently registered. As of the reporting date, the Company had issued a total
amount of 106,130,525 ordinary shares with a par value of CHF 0.01 each, of which the amount
fully paid-in totalled a share capital of CHF 1,061,305.25.

2.4 Shares and Participation Certificates
The Company has only one class of shares (registered shares) with a par value of CHF 0.01
per share. Each share carries one vote and equal dividend rights, with no special privileges.
The Company has not issued any participation or profit-sharing certificates.

2.5 Dividend-right Certificates
The Company has not issued any dividend-right certificates.

2.6 Limitations on Transferability and Nominee Registrations
Shares in the Company are not subject to any restrictions on transfer. Nominees are also
entered in the share register with name and address.

2.7 Convertible Bonds and Options
2.7.1 Convertible Bonds and Financing Facilities
Convertible loan subscription not materialised
On 10 July 2019, the Company entered into a convertible note subscription agreement
(governed by the laws of the Cayman Islands) with Mr Prasan Sirinnont, to invest USD 4.5
million, 40 business days after the date of the listing approval. The note would convert at a
price of USD 0.70 per share after 180 days of the issue, provided that this would occur before
31 December 2019. Upon conversion, the convertible note would amount to 6,500,000 shares.
The defined condition has been fulfilled. However, this convertible note subscription has and
will not be materialised based on a management assessment.

Subscription for media placement
In spring 2020, the Company signed a share subscription for a media placement with PT
Media Nusantara Citra Tbk (“MNC”) of USD 2 million. MNC is the largest media company in
Southeast Asia. The subscription is related to a media placement agreement over two years
and had no cash and share issuing impact in 2020.
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Convertible note with Negma
On 16 July 2020, the Company signed a convertible note with Negma Group Ltd (“Negma”)
of USD 2.2 (CHF 2.0) million, of which USD 1.7 (CHF 1.5) million has been converted. The
corresponding shares were issued from the authorised share capital as part of the capital
increases of 30 October 2020 and 11 December 2020. With the utilisation of the convertible
note, 1.4 million warrants have been granted in total with the right to convert into one share
per one warrant of the Company within an exercise period of five years and a strike price of
USD 0.34 to USD 1.09. The remaining portion of the convertible note of USD 0.55 (CHF 0.5) million has been waived upon signing the newly agreed warrant and convertible loan facility
agreements in November 2020 (see below under “Convertible subordinated loan facility and
warrant agreement with Negma”).

Convertible subordinated loan facility with Yorkville
On 25 November 2020, the Company signed a subordinated loan facility with US-based
fund manager Yorkville Advisors Global LP (“Yorkville”) of up to USD 12 million. An amount of
USD 2.5 million has been committed by Yorkville and the Company received this amount in
December 2020. An amount of 7.8 million shares was allocated to serve the committed loan
facility to be issued from the Company’s conditional capital. On 14 December 2020, Yorkville
converted USD 0.1 million and in January 2021 an additional amount of USD 0.9 million. The
shares related to the conversion of the total of USD 1 million have been subsequently registered on 16 March 2021. On 9 February 2021, the Company drew down additional funds in
the amount of USD 0.5 million and on 15 April 2021 another amount of USD 0.5 million. After
these utilisations, an unused, uncommitted amount of USD 8.5 million remains.

Convertible subordinated loan facility and warrant agreement with Negma
On 8 March 2021, the Company completed the subordinated loan facility of USD 1 (CHF 0.9)
million with Negma based on the binding term sheet announced 30 November 2020. The
convertible loan comes attached with an issuance of 1.5 million warrants. Each warrant
confers the right to purchase one registered share of the Company and has an exercise
period between the 30th and 360th day after the date of issuance of the warrants with an
exercise price of CHF 0.35. This replaces the convertible note agreement with Negma dated
16 July 2020. However, the 1.4 million outstanding warrants remain in full force.

2.7.2 Employee Stock Option Plan
As of 31 December 2020, the Company had 11,330,240 options outstanding under the ESOP.
Each option entitles the holder to convert its option into one share of the Company in accordance with the terms and conditions of the ESOP. Vested share options as of 31 December 2020
and 31 December 2019 amounted to 7,200,671 and 4,044,371, respectively.
Once vested, the options can be exercised at any time during the exercise period of ten years.
If all options were exercised, a total number of 11,330,240 shares would be issued, the capital
contribution reserves would increase by USD 3,490,966 and the share capital by USD 128,128,
equalling 10.7% of the share capital and voting rights based on the total registered ordinary
shares in the commercial register of 105,831,805 as of 31 December 2020.
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The vesting period, exercise period and strike price of these options are detailed below:
– 3,475,000 options, fully vested after 48 months from grant date, with an exercise
period of ten years from the grant date ending on 21 August 2028 and a strike price of
USD 0.075;
– 500,000 options, fully vested after 48 months from grant date, with an exercise period of
ten years from the grant date ending on 1 May 2029 and a strike price of USD 0.075;
– 250,000 options, fully vested after 48 months from grant date, with an exercise period of
ten years from the grant date ending on 1 May 2029 and a strike price of USD 0.70;
– 175,000 options, fully vested after 48 months from grant date, with an exercise period of
ten years from the grant date ending on 14 May 2029 and a strike price of USD 0.70;
– 2,000,000 options, fully vested, with an exercise period of ten years from the grant date
ending on 7 November 2029 and a strike price of USD 0.075;
– 3,410,000 options, fully vested after 45 to 48 months from grant date, with an exercise
period of ten years from the grant date ending on 30 November 2029 and a strike price
of USD 0.70;
– 100,000 options, fully vested, with an exercise period of ten years from the grant date
ending on 30 November 2029 and a strike price of USD 0.70
– 240,000 options, fully vested after 6 months from grant date, with an exercise period of
ten years from the grant date ending on 19 July 2030 and a strike price of CHF 0.25;
– 250,000 options, fully vested after 24 months from grant date, with an exercise period of
ten years from the grant date ending on 30 September 2030 and a strike price of CHF 0.40;
– 500,160 options, fully vested after 48 months from grant date, with an exercise period of
ten years from the grant date ending on 8 October 2030 and a strike price of CHF 0.40;
– 250,080 options, fully vested after 48 months from grant date, with an exercise period of
ten years from the grant date ending on 31 October 2030 and a strike price of CHF 0.40;
and
– 180,000 options, fully vested after 6 months from grant date, with an exercise period of
ten years from the grant date ending on 31 October 2030 and a strike price of CHF 0.40.

3. Board of Directors and Advisory Board
3.1.1 Members of the Board of Directors
Name

Place of origin/
nationality

Place of residence

Year of appointment

Year of birth

Position

Allen Wu

USA

Laos

2019

1963

Chairperson

Steven Wern-Yi Goh

Australia

Australia

2019

1967

Member, Chairperson of the
Nomination and Remuneration
Committee and CEO

John Bing-Tsung Lin

USA

China

2018

1976

Member

Christophe Laurent

Switzerland

Switzerland

2018

1969

Member

John Bing-Tsung Lin will retire as member of the Board of Directors at the next ordinary
General Meeting.
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The members of the Board of Directors may be contacted at the business address of the
Company.
The biographical details of the members of the Board of Directors are set out below. These
include information on their activities and commitments in addition to their functions at
the Company.
Allen Wu, Chairperson of the Board of Directors, is an American citizen and currently
resides in Vientiane, Laos.
Allen Wu is a serial entrepreneur with diverse industry experience across the medical, pharmaceutical, mining, infrastructure, energy & power, real estate, media,
financial services, aviation and tourism industries. He is the founder and chairperson
of China Regent Holdings Limited (now rebranded as Lotus Investment), a family investment
holding company. He is the CEO of Camergy Co. Ltd., a Cambodian investment company.
Allen Wu is also CEO of BZG Asia Investment LLC, in a joint venture with H.H. Sheikh Khaled
bin Zayed Al Nahyan of Bin Zayed Group (BZG).
Allen Wu holds a double Bachelor of Arts degree in World Economics and International Cultural Exchange and a Master of Arts degree in International Relations from the International
University of Japan Graduate School.

Steven Wern-Yi Goh, Member of the Board of Directors, Chairperson of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee and CEO, is an Australian citizen and currently
resides in Perth, Australia.
Steven Wern-Yi Goh has founded and co-founded several companies, including
Australia’s first online stockbroker, Sanford, in 1996, one of the world’s first mobile social
networks, migme, in 2005 and other ventures in biotech, finance, mining and resources,
among others. In his work with top tier venture capitalists in Silicon Valley and across the
world, with meaningful strategics (including some of the largest companies in the world),
dozens of incubators and hundreds of other start-ups, stock exchanges and investment
banks, he gained extensive experience in developing and commercialising compelling services for various industries. Previously, he has worked in chartered accounting, stockbroking,
investment banking and consulting with a wide range of financial institutions in Australia,
Asia and Europe.
Steven Wern-Yi Goh has been involved in a few hundred capital issues and transactions for
over USD 1 billion, including raising over USD 100 million for companies that he himself has
founded and led and four exits of more than USD 100 million each. He maintains an avid
interest in a range of technologies including in fintech, resources, media and biotech.
He has won numerous professional and business awards. He has extensive private and public board experience, is a frequent speaker at conferences in Silicon Valley, Europe, Asia and
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Australia and has appeared in the Wall Street Journal, Australian Financial Review, CNBC,
Financial Times, the Economist, Bloomberg and many others.
On 29 July 2020, Steven Wern-Yi Goh replaced Kenneth Ting as Chief Executive Officer
(the “CEO”).

Christophe Laurent, Member of the Board of Directors and Head of Business Development EMEA, is a Swiss citizen, born in 1969 and currently resides in Switzerland.
Christophe Laurent is a Member of the Board of Directors. He has decades of
experience in international business across enterprise sales, strategic and operational marketing as well as corporate fundraising. Christophe Laurent was most
recently Fintech Lead at Kickstart, a Switzerland-based open innovation programme, which
he joined after his tenure as CMO and having raised funds for a fintech start-up, which
focused on growing digital banking and financial inclusion in various parts of the world, after
he spent a year at Google studying the impact of digitalisation in multiple areas. Prior to that,
he held various senior marketing and business development related positions in England,
the USA, Liechtenstein and Switzerland, working for listed companies such as General Electric and Oerlikon, but also smaller companies, all leaders in their field. He founded his first
start-up more than ten years ago and has worked in two more in the meantime.
Christophe Laurent holds Master’s degrees in International Management and European
Marketing Strategy from the University of Savoy and the Staffordshire Business School. He
is based in Zurich, Switzerland.
For the period of 1 July 2020 until 31 January 2021, Christophe Laurent acted as Head of Business Development EMEA in addition to his role as Member of the Board of Directors.

John Bing-Tsung Lin, Member of the Board of Directors, is an American citizen and
currently resides in Hong Kong, China.
John Bing-Tsung Lin is a Member of the Board of Directors. He also serves as a Chief
Operating Officer of PLAYSTUDIOS Inc, a leading mobile games developer, where
his tenure dates from 2014. He has been engaged in the development and marketing
of games across social, online and integrated resort formats in Asia, Europe and the United
States since 2002. Prior to PLAYSTUDIOS, as a senior development executive in the landbased casino sector for Las Vegas Sands (NYSE: LVS) and Boyd Gaming (NYSE: BYD), he led
greenfield development, legislative and regulatory initiatives, acquisitions, strategic partnerships as well as the design and development of integrated casino resorts from Macau,
Singapore and the UK to regional US markets and the Las Vegas Strip.
John Bing-Tsung Lin holds a Master’s degree in Real Estate Development from Columbia
University and a Bachelor's degree in architecture from the University of California Berkeley.
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3.1.2 Members of the Advisory Board
As progress continues towards the launch of a non-invasive, saliva-based diagnostic test for
the detection of Covid-19 (AptameX) led by a world-class research and development team,
the Company established an advisory board of international experts in the medtech, biotech
and innovation fields in October and November 2020, as it prepares for global expansion.

Name

Place of origin /
nationality

Place of origin /
residence

Year of
appointment

Year of birth

Position

Carol Aebi

Switzerland

Switzerland

2020

1968

Member

Glenn Cross

Australia

Australia

2020

1951

Member

Paul Field

Australia

Australia

2020

1963

Member

Charles Pan

Taiwan

Taiwan

2020

1971

Member

Dr JIttaporn Wattanaseree

Thailand

Thailand

2020

withheld

Member

Dr Jittaporn Wattanaseree departed as member of the Advisory Board as of 28 April 2021.
The members of the Advisory Board may be contacted at the business address of the
Company.
The biographical details of the members of the Advisory Board are set out below. These
include information on their activities and commitments in addition to their functions at
the Company.
Carol Aebi, Member of the Advisory Board, is a Swiss citizen and resides in Berne,
Switzerland.
Carol Aebi brings over 25 years of business experience in the USA and Switzerland
to Achiko. She currently serves as the Head of Business Analysis at AdNovum Informatik AG, a high-end software engineering firm. Her prior professional career included
work with international organisations such as UBS AG, Zurich Financial Services and Novartis,
as well as with small- to mid-sized businesses in the technology, consulting and financial
industries. In addition, she was a co-owner and director of an IoT company and a sustainability advisory firm. Carol Aebi holds a Master’s degree in Business Administration from the
University of Cumbria and Bachelor’s degree in International Business Management from
SBS Swiss Business School.

Glenn Cross, Member of the Advisory Board, is an Australian citizen and currently
resides in Melbourne, Australia.
Glenn Cross has spent his entire working life in life sciences, progressing from the
lab bench to senior executive positions. He has over 40 years’ experience in the life
sciences sector and has held senior executive roles in both multinational and Australian companies. Glenn Cross’ expertise covers general management, sales, marketing,
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finance, distribution and manufacturing in the life sciences market. He also has experience
in finance, human resources, product development and manufacturing. In recent years he
has been involved in capital markets and general investment activities in North America, Asia
and Australia. He was the Chief Operating Officer and CEO of AusBiotech for over 13 years.
Glenn Cross is currently the CEO of his own investment and advisory company – Red Bluff
Capital.

Paul Field, Member of the Advisory Board, is an Australian citizen and currently
resides in Sydney, Australia.
Paul Field brings over 30 years of experience in the global biotechnology industry
to Achiko, including the commercialisation of rapid in vitro diagnostic tests for infectious diseases. He currently advises a number of organisations including the Horizon
3 Biotech Fund (Melbourne), the Global Antibiotic R&D Partnership (Geneva) and a number
of Australian biotech companies. He was until recently the Australian representative for the
Foundation for Innovative New Diagnostics (Geneva). Prior, he was the life sciences specialist
at Austrade, the Australian government’s trade and investment promotion agency, where
he facilitated investment in Australian therapeutics, vaccines and diagnostic technologies.

Charles Pan, Member of the Advisory Board, is a Taiwanese citizen and currently
resides in Taipei, Taiwan.
Charles Pan is a world-class expert in inorganic growth, and he brings 25 years’
international experience in investments, M&A, strategic partnership, start-up management and ecosystem building to Achiko. Having successfully invested in multiple
“unicorn” companies, Charles Pan was ranked among the Powerlist 100 investors by Global
Corporate Venturing in both 2016 and 2017.
Charles Pan previously served as Special Assistant to the Chairperson & Chief Investment
Director at the handset business unit of Foxconn (the world’s largest electronics contract
manufacturer; ranked No. 26 among Fortune Global 500). He led Foxconn’s investment in
Meitu (one of the most popular mobile applications globally) and he was instrumental in
Foxconn’s expansion into Southeast Asia and India.
Formerly, Charles Pan was CEO at Orange Capital (a corporate development arm of French
multinational telecom operator Orange) and Chief Investment Officer at Eastern Media
Group (the largest media conglomerate in Taiwan). He also worked as Chief Financial Officer
at an e-commerce start-up.
Prior to these experiences, Charles Pan spent almost a decade as a VC/PE investor in Greater
China and Silicon Valley, and he helped Stan Shih (founder of Acer) to establish a VC franchise. Early in his career, he was an investment banker at Lehman Brothers, taking the
world’s leading semiconductor companies public.
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Charles Pan conducted his MBA studies at University of California, Berkeley as a Fulbright
Scholar and Haas Merits Scholar and he received his Bachelor's degree from National Taiwan
University, where he majored in business administration and mechanical engineering.

Dr Jittaporn Wattanaseree, Member of the Advisory Board, is a Thai citizen and
currently resides in Bangkok, Thailand.
Dr Jittaporn Wattanaseree has been working in the pharmaceutical and bio
pharmaceutical field since 1990. Her experience spans all stages of drug development starting from research to commercialisation.
Currently, she is voluntarily contributing her experiences and knowledge to Thai society by
serving as a board committee member of the ISPE Thailand Affiliate. Meanwhile, she also
devotes her time to other activities such as the technical committee of Biosafety of Genetically Modified Microorganism of BIOTEC, NSTDA, and at the core committee of Thailand
towards Excellence in Clinical Trials (ThaiTECT).
She obtained a Bachelor’s degree in Medical Technology and Master’s degree in Bio
chemistry from Mahidol University. After working as a university instructor for almost 4 years,
she pursued her Ph.D. in Molecular Biochemistry and Biophysics at Yale University, USA.

3.2 Other Activities and Vested Interests
Other than as described above, the members of the Board of Directors and the Advisory Board
do not engage in any other activities or perform any other functions which are significant to
the Group.

3.3 Rules in the Articles of Association on the Number of
Permitted Activities Pursuant to Article 12 para. 1 point 1
Swiss Ordinance against Excessive Compensation in
Listed Stock Companies
Pursuant to article 4.7 of the Articles of Association, the members of the Board of Directors
and any Advisory Board Member shall not assume more than 15 additional remunerated
mandates, of which not more than 5 in companies listed on a stock exchange, and 10 nonexecutive position in non-profit legal entities or unpaid positions.

3.4 Elections and Terms of Office
Pursuant to article 4.1 of the Articles of Association, the members of the Board of Directors are
elected by the General Meeting of Shareholders. A member of the Board of Directors is elected
for a term of one year beginning with the day of their election. Directors shall hold their offices
until they are replaced or re-elected, unless they retire or are removed earlier. If a director is
replaced, his successor shall continue in office until the end of his predecessor’s term.
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Members of the Advisory Board are appointed by the Board of Directors for an open-ended
period. The notice period for open-ended agreements does not exceed 12 months pursuant
to article 4.8 of the Articles of Association.

3.5 Internal Organisational Structure
The internal organisational structure is founded on the provisions of Swiss corporate law and
on the Articles of Association of the Company.

Composition of the Board of Directors
Pursuant to article 4.1 of the Articles of Association, the Board of Directors shall consist of one
member or multiple members, who do not need to be shareholders. The Board of Directors
organises itself, subject to the election of the Chairperson of the Board of Directors and
the members of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee by the General Meeting
of Shareholders. It may designate a Vice Chairperson and a Secretary. The Secretary does
neither have to be a shareholder nor a member of the Board of Directors. If the office of
the Chairperson is vacant, the Board of Directors shall appoint a new Chairperson for the
remainder of the term.

Organisation, Resolutions and Minutes
Pursuant to article 4.3 of the Articles of Association, Meetings of the Board of Directors shall
be called whenever needed by its Chairperson or, in the absence of the Chairperson, by the
Vice-Chairperson or another member of the Board of Directors. A meeting shall also be called
at the written and substantiated request of any member of the Board of Directors.
The proceedings of and resolutions adopted by the Board of Directors shall be recorded
in minutes which shall be signed by the Chairperson of the Board of Directors and by the
Secretary.
The Board of Directors constitutes itself. No quorum regarding attendance is required if the
sole business to be transacted is the establishment of a capital increase and the subsequent
amendment to the Articles of Association.
Resolutions shall be adopted by a majority vote of all the members of the Board of Directors
present. In case of a tie, the Chairperson of the meeting shall have the casting vote.
Resolutions of the Board of Directors may also be adopted in writing or by means of email or
any other form of electronic communication, unless a member requests oral deliberation.
Any resolution thus adopted shall be as binding as resolutions adopted at an actual meeting
and shall be recorded in minutes.

Nomination and Remuneration Committee
Pursuant to article 4.5 of the Articles of Association, the General Meeting of Shareholders
elects the members of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee individually for a term
of one year ending at the conclusion of the next annual General Meeting of Shareholders.
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Re-election is permitted. The Nomination and Remuneration Committee is composed of at
least one member. Only members of the Board of Directors may be elected. The Nomination
and Remuneration Committee constitutes itself, subject to the election of the Chairperson
of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee by the Board of Directors.
On 18 June 2020, the General Meeting of Shareholders elected Steven Wern-Yi Goh as Chairperson and sole member of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee.

3.6 Definition of Areas of Responsibility
The Board of Directors is responsible for the overall management of the Company which, in
accordance with Swiss corporate law, cannot be delegated, and the supervision of the CEO
and the other members of the Executive Committee.
Pursuant to article 4.2 of the Articles of Association, the Board of Directors is entrusted
with the ultimate direction of the Company and the supervision of and the control over the
management.
The Board of Directors shall have the following non-transferable and inalienable duties:
1. The ultimate management of the Company and the issuance of the necessary
directives;
2. The determination of the organisation of the Company;
3. The structuring of the accounting system and of the financial controls, as well as the
financial planning insofar as this is necessary in the management of the Company;
4. The appointment and the removal of the members of the Executive Committee and of
the persons entrusted with the management and representation of the Company and
the granting of signatory power;
5. The ultimate supervision of the members of the Executive Committee, particularly with
regard to compliance with the law, these Articles of Association and regulations and
directives;
6. The preparation of the business report and the compensation report as well as the
preparation of the General Meeting of Shareholders and the implementation of the
latter’s resolutions;
7. The notification of the judge in the case of over-indebtedness;
8. The passing of resolutions regarding the subsequent payment of capital with respect
to non-fully paid-in shares;
9. The passing of resolutions confirming increases in the share capital and related
amendments to the Articles of Association; and
10. The examination of the professional qualifications of the specially qualified auditors in
those cases where appointment of such auditors is prescribed by the law.

3.7 Information and Control Instruments vis-à-vis
Executive Committee
The Board of Directors has put different information instruments in place to provide oversight and monitor the execution of responsibilities it has delegated to the CEO.
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The board meetings are the Board of Directors’ main platform to supervise and control the
CEO and the Executive Committee. In 2020, fourteen board meetings took place. At these
meetings, the members of the Executive Committee report on the financial, commercial
and business development and main risks and respective measures taken and strategic proposals. The Board of Directors receives monthly financial status reports with a strong focus
on liquidity, creditor management and financing. Financial statements are submitted and
reviewed half-yearly. In addition, key discussions have included the strategic re-positioning
and business development progress.
In 2020, weekly board calls were held in addition to the formal board meetings to discuss the
same matters for which the CEO provided written status updates. The uptake in frequency
of meetings and calls is primarily due to the speed at which the Company is currently aiming to grow and develop.
By way of procedure, minutes of the board meetings are prepared to set out the relevant
decision taken by the Board of Directors and are approved at each subsequent board meeting.

4. Executive Committee
4.1 Members of the Executive Committee
In accordance with the Articles of Association and pursuant to those affairs which lie
within the responsibility of the Board of Directors, the Board of Directors has delegated
the management and representation of the Company to the CEO, appoints and removes
the members the Executive Committee and is responsible for granting signatory power.
The Group’s Executive Committee is headed by the CEO. The Executive Committee serves
the CEO as a coordination body for decision making with regard to making proposals to
the Board of Directors and the implementation of strategies and decisions of the Board of
Directors or the CEO.
The Executive Committee consists of the following persons:
– Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”)
– Chief Financial Officer (“CFO”)
– Chief Operating Officer (“COO”)
On 1 January 2021, the Executive Committee was expanded to include a President who
reports directly to the CEO.
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Members of the Executive Committee
As at the reporting date, management comprises the following individuals:
Place of origin /
nationality

Name

Year of
joining

Year of birth

Position

Member of the Board of Directors,
Chairperson of the Nomination and
Steven Wern-Yi Goh

Australia

2020

1967

Remuneration Committee and CEO

Ruediger Petrikowski

Switzerland

2020

1966

CFO ad interim

Christopher Young

Australia

2019

1963

COO

Dr Morris S. Berrie

United Kingdom

2021

1965

President

The members of management may be contacted at the business address of the Company.
The biographical details of the members of management are set out below. This includes
information on their activities and commitments in addition to their functions at the Company.
Steven Wern-Yi Goh, Member of the Board of Directors, Chairperson of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee and CEO. Please refer to section 3.1 Board of
Directors of this Corporate Governance Report.

Ruediger Petrikowski, CFO ad interim, is a Swiss citizen and resides in Berne,
Switzerland.
Ruediger Petrikowski is an entrepreneurial CFO with M&A and capital market
expertise in fast-paced businesses and rapidly changing environments. His experiences bridge the start-up and corporate world by combining strategy, finance, M&A
and technology.
He has a background in finance in senior leadership positions of corporates in the telecom,
media, technology, payment and collection businesses (Publicitas, PubliGroupe, Swisscom,
Thyssen Telecom). This is enhanced by start-up and advisory experiences, including roles as
CFO (Crypto Valley Venture Capital, CV VC Ltd, a blockchain-focused venture capital investor), board member and Finance Director of the Swiss ICT Investor Club (www.sictic.ch),
start-up mentor and investor. In addition, he is Partner and leads the M&A & CFO Practice
of the Blockchain Innovation Group AG in Zug, Switzerland and is member of the board of
directors of advaisor Ltd, Zurich, Switzerland.
Ruediger Petrikowski has an educational background as a bank professional and holds a
Master’s degree in Business Administration & Electrical Engineering from the Technical
University of Darmstadt in Germany with studies in Sweden and China. He enhanced his
professional experience with studies at London Business School, IMD and MIT.
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Christopher Young, COO, is an Australian citizen and currently resides in Zurich,
Switzerland.
Christopher Young acts as COO of the Company. He is an executive in financial
services, investment banking and wealth management and has extensive experience in the field of core banking, front-to-back trading, risk management and global
regulatory initiatives. Furthermore, he is a certified Project Management Professional (PMP),
Scrum Master and Agile/DevOps Coach. Since June 2017, he has been the XSCALE Steward
for Switzerland and in December 2017, he founded the Swiss Agile Association, of which he
has since been the president. His previous experience includes senior management and
consulting positions for a number of leading financial organisations within Switzerland,
Australia and the UK.
Christopher Young holds an executive MBA from the Australian Graduate School of Management (2008). He obtained his Bachelor’s degree of applied science and computer science
in 1994 at RMIT University.

Dr Morris S. Berrie, President, is a UK citizen and currently resides in Cambridge,
England.
On 1 January 2021, Dr Berrie joined the Company to reinforce the Executive Committee and reports directly to the CEO. He is responsible for the diagnostics and
biotechnology part of the business, helping to drive the production and commercialisation of a non-invasive, saliva-based diagnostic test for Covid-19 (AptameX).
Dr Morris Berrie is a business professional and postdoctoral scientist who has operated
at board level and with senior government figures, C-level industry decision-makers and
learned society Presidents. He has considerable commercial expertise in business development, strategic consulting, marketing, structuring, negotiating and executing complex
brand development across global structures in the healthcare, life science and publishing
sectors. He is an entrepreneurial networker who is recognised as an effective revenue generator and project leader developing and maintaining strong relationships with co-workers,
outside experts and clients and has an in-depth understanding of relationships between
science, business and finance.
Dr Morris Berrie holds a Bachelor’s degree in Applied Chemistry from Northumbria University and a PhD in Organic Chemistry from Imperial College in London. He also completed
a post-doctoral fellowship in Organometallic Chemistry at Universidad de Oviedo, Spain.
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Departing members of the Executive Committee and changes to the extended
management team
Kenneth Ting, CEO, and Sunil Peter, CFO, left the Executive Committee and the Company
on 31 July 2020 and 31 August 2020, respectively.
Shannon Sung Chang, Vice President of Corporate Development, left the Company and the
extended management team on 28 February 2020.
The Executive Committee has been reduced to the CEO, CFO and COO functions with the
appointment of Steven Wern-Yi Goh as CEO. With this organisational change, the members
of the extended management team stepped down in their roles. Chunhoyk Chong focuses
on South Korean operations as Director of Kryptonite and Windiaprana Ramelan focuses on
the Indonesian operations as Director of PTPI. In line with this organisational change, Kiki
Rizki, General Manager Indonesia, left the Company on 30 September 2020.

4.2 Other Activities and Vested Interests
The members of the Executive Committee do not carry out any significant activities outside
the Group other than those specified above.

4.3 Rules in the Articles of Association on the Number of
Permitted Activities Pursuant to Article 12 para. 1 point 1
Swiss Ordinance against Excessive Compensation in
Listed Stock Companies
Pursuant to article 4.7 of the Articles of Association, the restrictions defined for the members
of the Board of Directors and any Advisory Board member do not apply for the members of
the Executive Committee.

4.4 Management Contracts
The Company has a consultancy agreement for the provision of professional services with
Heracles Investment Group Limited, Suite No. 3442, c/o 8 Temasek Boulevard, #35-03 Suntec Tower 3, Singapore, which is related to Steven Wern-Yi Goh and the remuneration is disclosed in the Compensation Report section of this Annual Report. Steven Wern-Yi Goh does
not receive any additional compensation for taking on the additional responsibility as CEO.
In addition, the Company signed with Dr Morris S. Berrie, 22 Priory St, Cambridge, CB4 3QH,
United Kingdom a consulting agreement for his engagement as President, effective 1 January 2021.
Apart from the above-described consultancy agreements, there are no additional management or service contracts with third parties.
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5. Compensation, Shareholdings and Loans
The relevant information on compensation, shareholdings and loans is disclosed in the
Compensation Report section of this Annual Report.

6. Shareholders’ Participation Rights
6.1 Voting Rights Restrictions and Representation
Each share entitles the holder to one vote at the General Meeting of Shareholders (the
“General Meeting”). Voting rights may be exercised by shareholders registered in the Company’s share register or by a duly appointed proxy.
Each shareholder may be represented at the General Meeting by another person who is
capable of acting and who need not to be a shareholder, on the basis of a written proxy.
Each shareholder may be represented by the independent proxy. The Board of Directors
decides on the recognition of proxies to attend the General Meeting.
The Articles of Association provide no restrictions regarding voting rights.

6.2 Quorums Required by the Articles of Association
The Articles of Association do not prescribe that a quorum of shareholders is required to be
present at a Shareholders’ Meeting.
The Articles of Association do not contain quorums that deviate from statutory Swiss law.

6.3 Convocation of the General Meeting of Shareholders
Under Swiss law, an annual general meeting must be held within six months of the end of
a company’s preceding financial year. Shareholders’ meetings may be convened by a company’s board of directors or, if necessary, by a company’s statutory auditors or liquidators.
A company’s board of directors is further required to convene an extraordinary shareholders’
meeting if resolved at a shareholders’ meeting or within two months if requested by one or
more shareholder(s) representing in aggregate at least 10% of a company’s nominal share
capital in the commercial register. The demand to call a meeting shall be in writing and shall
specify the items and the proposals to be submitted.
The general meeting shall be called not less than twenty days prior to the meeting. The
notice shall be given in writing or by e-mail or by publication of the invitation in the Swiss
Official Gazette of Commerce.

6.4 Inclusion of Items on the Agenda
One or more shareholders whose combined shareholdings represents a total of at least 10%
of the capital may request that an item be included on the agenda of the general meeting.

Corporate Governance

Such inclusion must be requested in writing at least forty-five days prior to the meeting and
shall specify the agenda items and proposals of such shareholder(s).

6.5 Entries in the Share Register
The Company issues its shares as uncertified securities (Wertrechte) within the meaning
of article 973c CO and registers them as intermediated securities (Bucheffekten) within
the meaning of the Swiss Federal Intermediated Securities Act. In accordance with
article 973c CO, the Company maintains a share register (Wertrechtebuch) relating to the
registered shares in which the owners and usufructuaries are registered with name and
address.
Voting rights may be exercised only after a shareholder has been recorded in the share
register as a shareholder with voting rights up to a specific qualifying day designated each
time by the Board of Directors.

7. Changes of Control and Defence Measures
7.1 Duty to Make an Offer
There are no opting-up or opting-out clauses in the Articles of Association within the meaning
of articles 125 and 135 of the Swiss Financial Market Instructure Act.

7.2 Clauses on Change of Control
Under the ESOP, in the event of a change of control, all options held by a participant shall
accelerate and immediately vest and the participant shall have the right to exercise his
options whether or not the vesting requirements set forth in the option agreement have
been satisfied. A change of control event is described as an event which, under applicable
law or listing rules, (i) triggers a mandatory offer or (ii) is the launch of any offer for such
number of shares of the Company, by which the offeror together with any shares otherwise
directly or indirectly held by the offeror and anyone acting in concert with the offeror, would
exceed the mandatory offer threshold under Swiss law (if applicable) of 33.33% of all issued
shares of the Company, provided, that following such offer period (Angebotsfrist) (not including the additional acceptance period – Nachfrist) such offer becomes or is declared, subject
only to conditions subsequent (auflösende oder anderweitig überdauernde Bedingungen)
(if any), unconditional.
Other than provided in the employee stock option plan described in section 2.7 above, there
are no agreements with the members of the Board of Directors, Advisory Board and Executive
Committee in the event of change of control.
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8. Auditors
8.1 Duration of the Mandate and Term of Office of the
Lead Auditor
For the financial year 2020, Grant Thornton Ltd., Claridenstrasse 35, CH-8027 Zurich, Switzerland was appointed as auditor of the Company at the General Meeting on 18 June 2020. BDO
Indonesia, Prudential Tower Lt. 17, Jalan Jenderal Sudirman Kav. 79, Setia Budi, Setiabudi,
RT.2/RW.2, Kuningan, Setia Budi, Kota Jakarta Selatan, Daerah Khusus Ibukota Jakarta 12910,
Indonesia was the prior auditor since the Company’s inception on 25 May 2018.

8.2 Auditing Fees
The total auditing fees for the Group charged by the audit firm in the year 2020 for audit
services were USD 142.5 thousand (2019: USD 98.0 thousand).

8.3 Additional Fees
The total additional fees for the Group charged by the audit firm in the year 2020 for tax and
valuation services were USD 30.0 thousand (2019: USD 140.6 thousand).
In 2019, the additional fees were due to the listing of the Company. PT Grant Thornton
Consulting Services Jakarta Indonesia reviewed the accounts prepared in conformity with
IFRS for 30 June 2019. For this service, USD 8.3 thousand was charged. Furthermore, Grant
Thornton Australia Ltd. (Sydney) was engaged for the purpose of preparing an independent valuation report of the Company as required for the listing. The fees paid-in this respect
amounted to USD 132.3 thousand.

8.4 Information Instruments Pertaining to the External Audit
The Board of Directors oversees the activities of the auditors and assesses the performance,
remuneration and independence of the external auditor. The Board of Directors proposes
the election of the external auditor to the Annual General Meeting. The Board of Directors
assesses the scope of the audit by the external auditor and the relevant procedures annually
and discusses the audit findings with the external auditor. For the audit of the reporting
period, one board meeting was held with the representatives of the external auditor on
29 March 2021. Given travel restrictions due to the Covid-19 pandemic, this meeting between
the Board of Directors and the external auditors took place via video call.
For additional information see section 3.5 of this Corporate Governance Report.

9. Information Policy
The Company is committed to a policy of transparent, open and continuous information.
Shareholders receive information through the Annual Report, the Half-Year Report, media
releases, the internet and at the Annual General Meeting. In accordance with the rules of
SIX Exchange Regulation Ltd, the Company publishes relevant figures on a half-year basis.

Corporate Governance

Moreover, the Company provides continuous information on important events according
to the rules of ad-hoc notifications.
The Annual Report is published electronically within four months of the reporting date. In
addition, the results for the first half of each financial year are released in electronic form
within three months following 30 June each year. In addition, the frequency and form of
information that the issuer provides its shareholders, along with an indication of permanent
sources of the information and contact addresses of the issuer that are publicly accessible or
made especially available to shareholders (e.g. links to web pages, information or electronic
versions of documents).
The Company’s annual and interim reports and agenda are available at
https://www.achiko.com/financials/.
Copies of all information pertaining to press releases can be viewed on the Company’s website at https://www.achiko.com/announcements/.
Interested parties and persons may also subscribe to the Company’s e-mail announcement
alert service from the Company’s website at https://www.achiko.com/contact/.
The Company additionally provides investor updates, analyst presentations, stock information, media and the Company’s contact through the sub-menus of the Investor section of
its website https://www.achiko.com/investor/.
This information may also be requested directly by investors at the Company (email:
ir@achiko.com).
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The present Compensation Report of Achiko AG sets out the guiding compensation principles, the compensation governance rules and decisions regarding the current compensation structure, as well as the actual compensation paid and/or allocated to the Board of
Directors, Advisory Board and the Executive Committee. It is prepared in line with the Ordinance Against Excessive Compensation in Publicly Listed Companies (the “VegüV”), Achiko’s
Articles of Association (https://www.achiko.com/aoa/) and, with respect to the compensation
disclosure, article 5 of the appendix to the SIX Exchange Regulation Directive on Corporate
Governance (the “DCG”) and section 38 of appendix 1 of the Swiss Code of Best Practice for
Corporate Governance.

1. Compensation Principles
As a publicly listed company, the Company conducts regular board meetings and the Board
of Directors is regularly updated by the CEO. The Board of Directors approves proposals with
respect to compensation matters especially in respect of the compensation of the members
of the Advisory Board and the Executive Committee reflecting the compensation principles,
primarily focusing on striking a desired balance between sustainable value creation on one
hand, whilst optimising the Company’s profitability on the other.
As of its formation, the Company has primarily been funded by outside investors. In this
regard, the determination of compensation to the Board of Directors, the Advisory Board
and the Executive Committee has been significantly subject to shareholders’ influence and
approval, which remained to be the case as at the reporting date.

1.1 Principles of Remuneration
Pursuant to article 4.4 of the Articles of Association,  the members of the Board of Directors,
the Executive Committee and any Advisory Board are entitled to remuneration commensurate with their activities. The remuneration may be paid by the Company or by a subsidiary
provided it is covered by the maximum total remuneration approved by the General Meeting of Shareholders.
The remuneration of the members of the Board of Directors, the Executive Committee and
any Advisory Board shall be reasonable, competitive and performance-oriented and shall
be consistent with the strategic objectives and performance of the Group.

Board of Directors and any Advisory Board remuneration elements
The members of the Board of Directors and any Advisory Board are paid a fixed remuneration and other applicable elements of remuneration that are not dependent on performance. The Company may pay to the members of the Board of Directors and any Advisory
Board member a performance-related compensation. The fixed compensation and any
performance remuneration may be paid-in cash or by allocating equity instruments, conversion or option rights or other rights to equity instruments.
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Executive Committee remuneration elements
Remuneration of the members of the Executive Committee consists of a fixed compensation
and may be complemented by a performance component. The fixed compensation and
any performance remuneration may be paid-in cash or by allocating equity instruments,
conversion or option rights or other rights to equity instruments.

Performance remuneration
The amount of the performance remuneration paid to the members of the Board of
Directors, the Executive Committee and any Advisory Board depends on the qualitative
and quantitative targets and parameters defined by the Board of Directors. The Board of
Directors defines and assesses the targets and their achievement or delegates this task to
the Nomination and Remuneration Committee.
The details of the performance-related compensation of the members of the Board of
Directors, the Executive Committee and any Advisory Board shall be set forth by the Board
of Directors.

Approval by the General Meeting of Shareholders
The General Meeting approves annually, on a binding basis and at the request of the Board of
Directors and the Advisory Board, the aggregate amounts of the remuneration of the Board
of Directors for the period up to the next ordinary General Meeting and of the Executive
Committee for the next full financial year following the year of the ordinary General Meeting.

Reimbursement of out-of-pocket expenses
Reimbursement of expenses does not qualify as remuneration. The Company may pay members of the Board of Directors and the persons whom the Board of Directors has entrusted
with the executive management a reimbursement for expenses in the form of and amount
of lump-sum expenses recognised for tax purposes.

Loans and credits
Pursuant to article 4.4 of the Articles of Association, in principle, loans and credits in favour
of a member of the Board of Directors, the Executive Committee or any Advisory Board shall
not be permitted.
However, advances for costs in an amount of up to CHF 500,000 per person may be granted
to members of the Board of Directors, the Executive Committee and any Advisory Board for
the costs of civil, penal or administrative proceedings which are related to the activities of
the respective person as a member of the Board of Directors, the Executive Committee or
any Advisory Board of the Company (in particular court and lawyers’ fees).

Employment and mandate contracts
Pursuant to article 4.8 of the Articles of Association, fixed-term employment and mandate
agreements stipulating the remuneration of members of the Board of Directors, the
Executive Committee or any Advisory Board shall not exceed a term of one year.

Compensation Report

The notice period for open-ended employment and mandate agreements with members
of the Board of Directors, the Executive Committee or any Advisory Board shall not exceed
12 months.

2. Compensation Governance
The overall responsibility for the implementation of the statutory compensation principles
lies with the Board of Directors. The Nomination and Remuneration Committee assists the
full Board of Directors and has the following fundamental duties and responsibilities (principles):
1. Preparation and periodic review of the compensation policy and principles of remuneration and the performance criteria in the area of compensation, periodic review of their
implementation and submission of related proposals and recommendations to the
Board of Directors.
2. Preparation of all relevant decisions of the Board of Directors regarding compensation
of the members of the Board of Directors, the Executive Committee and any Advisory
Board member and submission of related proposals and recommendations to the
Board of Directors.
Details of the constitution of the Board of Directors and of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee, as well as regarding further details such as, for example, maximum number of external mandates, are outlined in the Corporate Governance Report section of this
Annual Report.
The Nomination and Remuneration Committee recommends, and the Board of Directors
determines, on an annual basis, the amount of the remuneration of the individual members
of the Board of Directors, including its Chairperson, subject to and within the limits of the
maximum total amount approved by the General Meeting.
Remuneration to the CEO is recommended by the Nomination and Remuneration Committee and determined by the Board of Directors on an annual basis, subject to and within the
limits of the maximum total amount approved by the General Meeting. Remuneration to
the other members of the Executive Committee is recommended by the CEO, reviewed by
the Nomination and Remuneration Committee and determined by the Board of Directors,
on an annual basis, subject to the limits of the maximum total amount approved by the
General Meeting.
The Nomination and Remuneration Committee may consult other persons and external
consultants and have them participate in its meetings to fulfil its duties.
As set out above, the General Meeting approves the total compensation amounts to the
Board of Directors, Advisory Board and the Executive Committee on an annual basis and
in a binding manner. The Board of Directors values the dialogue with shareholders and is
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considerate of their views about executive compensation when reviewing compensation
principles. Reflecting this principle, the Board of Directors voluntarily submits the compensation report to consultative vote at the General Meeting. This vote allows shareholders to
express their opinion to the disclosed compensation in the past financial year.

3. Compensation Structure
3.1 Board of Directors
For their non-executive services, the members of the Board of Directors receive a fixed basic
fee and compensation for expenses that are determined by the full Board of Directors and
are subject to and within the limits of the aggregate amounts approved by an ordinary
resolution of shareholders. There are no performance-related compensation and no additional fees per meeting or for Board Committee memberships. In 2020, the compensation
was awarded in cash and in option rights of the Company. This ensures that the Board
of Directors remains independent while exercising its supervisory duties towards the
Executive Committee.
In exceptional cases and subject to and within the limits of the approval by the Annual
Shareholders Meeting, the members of the Board of Directors may be awarded an additional bonus.
There were no relevant changes to the remuneration structure or amounts for the Board
of Directors in 2020.
There are no contractual share ownership requirements for members of the Board of
Directors.
Depending on the contractual setup and individual circumstances, the compensation paid
to members of the Board of Directors may be subject to VAT or statutory social security
contributions.

3.2 Advisory Board
In October and November 2020, Achiko implemented an Advisory Board to strengthen its
expertise in medtech and biotech. Leveraging the significant expertise of Advisory Board
members will support the development and the subsequent commercialisation of its products. Moreover, the international exposure of these members will underpin Achiko’s expansion into other geographies.
For their non-executive services, the members of the Advisory Board receive a fixed basic
fee and compensation for expenses that are determined by the full Board of Directors and
will be subject to and within the limits of the aggregate amounts to be approved in an ordinary resolution of shareholders. There are no performance-related compensation and no
additional fees per meeting or for committee memberships. In 2020, the compensation was
awarded in cash and in option rights of the Company.
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There are no contractual share ownership requirements for members of the Advisory Board.
Depending on the contractual setup and individual circumstances, the compensation
paid to members of the Advisory Board may be subject to VAT or statutory social security
contributions.

3.3 Executive Committee
The compensation of the members of the Executive Committee consists of a fixed base
salary and optionally, a variable component and is subject to and within the limits of the
aggregate amounts approved by an ordinary resolution of shareholders. The amount of the
variable remuneration (if any) paid to management would depend on the qualitative and
quantitative targets and parameters defined by the Board of Directors. The Board of Directors would define and assess the targets and their achievement. Variable remuneration may
be paid in cash or in the form of equity instruments, conversion or option rights or other
rights to equity instruments. In addition, members of the Executive Committee may receive
reimbursement for expenses which are not deemed part of management’s compensation.
In 2020, the compensation was awarded in cash and in option rights of the Company.
In exceptional cases and subject to and within the limits of the approval by the Annual
Shareholders’ Meeting, the members of the Board of Directors may be awarded an additional bonus.

3.4 Employee Stock Option Plan
The Company relies to a significant degree on the quality and commitment of its members
of the Board of Directors, Advisory Board, Executive Committee and its employees. In order
to combine short- and long-term incentive elements, the employee stock option plan (the
“ESOP”) has been designed to cater for a balanced approach in this respect. Please refer to
section 2.7 of the Corporate Governance Report of this Annual Report.
Other than the ESOP, the Company has no share program in place.

4. Actual Compensation for the Reported Year
This section contains:
4.1 the actual compensation paid to the Board of Directors;
4.2 the actual compensation paid to the Advisory Board;
4.3 the actual compensation paid to the Executive Committee;
4.4 other compensation-related information under the Swiss Ordinance Against Excessive
Compensation;
4.5 comments on the alignment between paid and pre-approved amounts; and
4.6 information on shareholdings on members of the Board of Directors, Advisory Board
and the Executive Committee.
Subsections 4.1, 4.2, 4.3 and 4.4 are subject to the external audit according to the VegüV.
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4.1 Board of Directors (audited)
The below table shows the compensation in USD paid to members of the Board of Directors of Achiko AG for the twelve-month period from the ordinary General Meeting in 2020
held on 18 June 2020 up to the next ordinary General Meeting in 2021. All individuals were
members of the Board of Directors during the entire period. Values in italics represent data
for the year 2019.
Board Fee

Additional fee

Other stock-based
compensation3

Total
compensation

24,000

NIL

NIL

24,000

24,000

NIL

113,229

137,299

the Nomination and Remuneration

NIL

240,000¹

NIL

240,000

Committee and CEO

NIL

300,000¹

NIL

300,000

24,000

108,3842

NIL

132,384

30,000

NIL

25,614

55,614

24,000

NIL

NIL

24,000

32,903

NIL

16,600

49,503

72,000

348,384

NIL

420,384

86,903

300,000

155,513

542,416

Board of Directors

Function

Allen Wu

Chairperson of the Board
Board member, Chairperson of

Steven Wern-Yi Goh

Christophe Laurent

Board member

John Bing-Tsung Lin

Board member

Total

4.2 Advisory Board (audited)
The below table shows the prospective total compensation in USD paid to members of the
Advisory Board of Achiko AG for the period as of 18 June 2020 (being the date of the Company’s General Meeting in 2020) up to the next ordinary General Meeting in 2021. The individual members started their engagement as members of the Advisory Board in October and
November 2020, respectively. As the Advisory Board was only implemented in October and
November 2020, there was no compensation in 2019. For the same reason, the maximum
aggregate amount of compensation was not approved at the General Meeting in 2020. This
amount will therefore be subject to (retrospective) approval by the shareholders during the
Company’s General Meeting held in 2021.

Advisory Board

Function

Advisory
Board Fee

Additional fee

Other stock-based
compensation3

Total compensation

Carol Aebi4

Advisory Board member

18,646

1,1745

115,330

135,150

Glenn Cross

Advisory Board member

37,935

NIL

115,330

153,265

Paul Field

Advisory Board member

14,917

NIL

NIL

14,917

Charles Pan

Advisory Board member

14,917

45,0006

127,849

185,766

Dr Jittaporn Wattanaseree

Advisory Board member

NIL

15,0007

NIL

15,000

86,415

61,174

358,509

506,098

Total

1. Additional fees relate to services other than board duties rendered to the Company for USD 20,000 per month as disclosed under section 4.4 Management
contract of the Corporate Governance Report of this Annual Report.
2. Additional fees relate to social security contributions to be paid by the Company as part of the board duty in an amount of USD 1,458. In addition,
USD 106,926 including social charges has been paid as operational employment compensation for the period 1 July 2020 to 31 January 2021.
3. In the Company’s Annual Report for 2019, vesting criteria were taken as a reference point for the disclosure of the respective amounts of grants. Being
re-incorporated as a Swiss stock corporation, the Company decided to report respective grants in the Compensation Report for the year for which they have
been awarded, as opposed to last year.
4. Partial waiver of compensation due to illness.
5. Additional fees relate to social security contributions to be paid by the Company.
6. Additional fees relate to an additional service for three months to support the Company in 2021.
7. Additional fees relate to a consulting agreement for the period of July to September 2020.
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4.3 Executive Committee (audited)
The below table shows the compensation in USD paid to members of the Executive Committee of Achiko AG for the twelve-month period ending 31 December 2020.
On 29 July 2020, Steven Wern-Yi Goh was appointed as CEO in addition to his membership
on the Board of Directors and Chairperson of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee
without any additional compensation.
On 20 July 2020, Ruediger Petrikowski joined as CFO ad interim. Christopher Young held his
COO function during the entire period.
With the appointment of Steven Wern-Yi Goh as CEO, the Executive Committee has been
reduced to the CEO, CFO and COO functions. Values in italics represent data for the year 2019.
Base
salary¹

Annual
incentive

Additional fee

Stock-based
compensation2

Other
Compensation3

Total
compensation

255,716

51,143

NIL

NIL

43,555

350,414

118,470

NIL

NIL

3,149,973

NIL

3,268,433

163,044

NIL

NIL

NIL

NIL

163,044

232,920

NIL

NIL

2,767,610

NIL

3,000,530

Executive Committee and

511,980

NIL

NIL

63,293

23,748

599,021

extended management4

143,696

NIL

NIL

393,746

7,660

545,102

930,741

51,143

NIL

63,293

67,303

1,112,480

495,086

NIL

NIL

6,311,329

7,660

6,814,075

Executive Committee

Function

Christopher Young

COO

Kenneth Ting

CEO

Other Members of the

Total

Kenneth Ting, CEO, and Sunil Peter, CFO, left the Company on 31 July 2020 and on 31 August
2020, respectively. During 2020, a total of USD 0.3 million was paid to former Executive Committee members and stepped-down extended management members according to the
contractual terms. No severance payments were made.

Granting of stock options
In 2020, the change of stock options held by all members of the Executive Committee and
the member with the highest number of stock options is as follows:

For year 2020

Number of
vested stock
options at the
beginning of
the year

Number of
unvested stock
options at the
beginning of
the year

Number of
stock options
granted during
the year

Number of
stock options
exercised
during the year

Number of
stock options
expired during
the year

Number of
vested stock
options at the
end of the year

Number of
unvested stock
options a the
end of the year

Christopher Young

NIL

3,000,000

NIL

NIL

NIL

1,875,000

1,125,000

1,333,333

5,041,667

240,000

NIL

1,875,000

3,475,000

1,265,000

Total Executive
Committee excl. extended
management

1. Base salary does not include social security costs.
2. In the Company’s Annual Report for 2019, vesting criteria were taken as a reference point for the disclosure of the respective amounts of grants. Being
re-incorporated as a Swiss stock corporation, the Company decided to report respective grants in the Compensation Report for the year for which they have
been awarded, as opposed to last year.
3. Other compensation includes social security contributions including pension contributions to be paid by the Company.
4. Extended management considered for the period 1 January 2020 until 31 July 2020 as disclosed under section 4.1 Executive Committee of the Corporate
Governance Report of this Annual Report.
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The total includes the stock options of the Executive Committee as of the reporting date and
stock options of members who left the Executive Committee.
At the end of the year, 1.5 million vested and zero unvested stock options are included for
former members of the Executive Committee.
Former extended management members had at the beginning of the year 1.9 million vested
and 3 million unvested stock options. No options were granted during the year to the former
extended management members; 0.6 million have been exercised and 1.5 million options
expired during the year.
Stock options of former members who left the Executive Committee in 2018 are excluded
or none are held.

4.4 Other Compensation Related Information under the Swiss
Ordinance Against Excessive Compensation (audited)
For the reporting period, no compensation other than listed above in 4.1, 4.2 and 4.3 was
paid or granted to the members of the Board of Directors, Advisory Board and the Executive
Committee.
No compensation was paid to former members of the Board of Directors. No compensation
other than the disclosed compensation of former members of the Executive Committee
under section 4.3 was paid to former members of the Executive Committee defined as
CEO, CFO and COO. The compensation to former members of the Executive Committee
were in line with the conditions of their employment agreements. No severance payments
were made.
No loans or credits were granted to current or former members of the Board of Directors,
Advisory Board and the Executive Committee. No such loans or credits were outstanding
at the balance sheet date.
No compensation, loans or credits were paid or granted at non-market conditions to persons closely associated with current or former members of the Board of Directors, Advisory
Board or Executive Committee. No such loans or credits were outstanding at the balance
sheet date.

4.5 Alignment with Pre-approved Maximum Amounts (audited)
At the last ordinary General Meeting of Achiko AG on 18 June 2020, the shareholders
approved, with binding effect and in separate votes, the following aggregate compensation amounts:

Aggregate annual compensation to the Board of Directors for the period from the
General Meeting 2020 to the General Meeting 2021

USD 319,503

Aggregate annual compensation to the Executive Committee for the period of the forthcoming financial year in an amount of approximately

USD 890,000
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Board of Directors
As shown above, the compensation to the members of the Board of Directors for services
from the ordinary General Meeting in 2020 up to the next ordinary General Meeting in 2021
is USD 420,384. This compensation is above the maximum amount pre-approved at the
last ordinary General Meeting in 2020. The reason for this is that the effect of the operational
employment compensation of Christophe Laurent in the amount of USD 106,926 was not
considered. Excluding this operational employment compensation, the compensation to
the members of the Board of Directors amounts to USD 313,458, which would be in line with
the pre-approved maximum amount.
Accordingly, at the next ordinary General Meeting, the compensation for the period from
the General Meeting 2020 to the General Meeting 2021 will be proposed for retrospective
approval due to the exceeded amount by the operational employment compensation of
Christophe Laurent and the total compensation for the period from the General Meeting
2021 to the General Meeting 2022 will be proposed for pre-approval.

Advisory Board
The Advisory Board was implemented in October and November 2020 and approved by
the Board of Directors. Therefore, the total compensation could not be pre-approved at the
last ordinary General Meeting in 2020. The compensation to the members of the Advisory
Board for services up to the next ordinary General Meeting in 2021 is USD 506,098, of which
USD 358,509 amounts to stock option based compensation.
Accordingly, at the next ordinary General Meeting, the compensation for the period from
the General Meeting 2020 to the General Meeting 2021 will be proposed for retrospective
approval and the total compensation for the period from the General Meeting 2021 to the
General Meeting 2022 will be proposed for pre-approval.

Executive Committee
As shown above, the compensation for the members of the Executive Committee including the extended management members until end of July 2020 for services in the financial year 2020 is USD 1,112,480. Excluding the compensation of the extended management
members, the compensation for the financial year amounts to USD 0.8 million. On 18 June
2020, the General Meeting approved an amount of USD 890,000 for the financial year
2021, but did not approve an amount for the financial year 2020. However, considering the
approval for the financial year 2021, the compensation for the members of the Executive
Committee for the financial year 2020 seems to be appropriate.
Furthermore, the compensation to the members of the Executive Committee for services
for the current financial year 2021 is expected to be above the maximum amount preapproved at the last ordinary General Meeting in 2020 due to changes in the composition
of the Executive Committee, particularly the addition of Dr Morris Berrie in January 2021.
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Accordingly, at the next ordinary General Meeting, the compensation for the financial year
2020 as well as the current financial year 2021 will be proposed for retrospective approval
and the total compensation for the financial year 2022 will be proposed for pre-approval.

4.6 Shareholdings of Members of the Board of Directors,
Advisory Board and the Executive Committee
Shareholdings of members of the Board of Directors, Advisory Board and the Executive
Committee of Achiko AG as of 31 December 2020 are as follows:
Shareholdings of members of the Board of Directors,
Advisory Board and the Executive Committee

Ultimate beneficial owner

Shares

Percentage

Heracles Investment Group Limited, Suite No. 3442, c/o 8 Temasek
Boulevard, #35-03 Suntec Tower 3, Singapore

Steven Wern-Yi Goh

13,971,612

13.20%

John Bing-Tsung Lin

John Bing-Tsung Lin

200,000

0.19%

Charles Pan

Charles Pan

75,000

0.07%

Christopher Young

Christopher Young

540,000

0.51%

The percentage is calculated on the total number of shares recorded in the commercial
register as of 31 December 2020, which amounted to 105,831,805.
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Report of the Statutory Auditor on the
Compensation Report

Grant Thornton AG
Claridenstrasse 35
P.O. Box
CH-8027 Zürich
T +41 43 960 71 71
F +41 43 960 71 00
www.grantthornton.ch

Report of the statutory auditor

To the General Meeting of
Achiko AG, Zurich
We have audited the compensation report of Achiko AG for the year ended 31 December 2020. The audit
was limited to the information according to articles 14–16 of the Ordinance against Excessive Compensation
in Stock Exchange Listed Companies (Ordinance) contained in the tables labeled “audited” on pages 35 to
44 of the compensation report.

Responsibility of the Board of Directors
The Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation and overall fair presentation of the compensation
report in accordance with Swiss law and the Ordinance. The Board of Directors is also responsible for
designing the remuneration system and defining individual remuneration packages.

Auditor's Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the accompanying compensation report. We conducted our
audit in accordance with Swiss Auditing Standards. Those standards require that we comply with ethical
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
compensation report complies with Swiss law and articles 14–16 of the Ordinance.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence on the disclosures made in the
compensation report with regard to compensation, loans and credits in accordance with articles 14–16 of the
Ordinance. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks
of material misstatements in the compensation report, whether due to fraud or error. This audit also includes
evaluating the reasonableness of the methods applied to value components of compensation, as well as
assessing the overall presentation of the compensation report.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion.

Zürich Schaan Genève Lausanne Buchs
Member of Grant Thornton International Ltd

CHE-107.841.337 HR/MWST
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Opinion
In our opinion, the compensation report for the year ended 31 December 2020 of Achiko AG complies with
Swiss law and articles 14–16 of the Ordinance.
Zurich, 26 April 2021
Grant Thornton AG

Hermann Caspers
Audit expert
Auditor in Charge

Zürich Schaan Genève Lausanne Buchs
Member of Grant Thornton International Ltd

Dr. Shqiponja Isufi
Audit expert

CHE-107.841.337 HR/MWST
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position as of
31 December 2020 and 2019

Assets
Non-current assets
in USD

Property and equipment
Goodwill
Deferred tax assets
Other receivables

Notes

2020

2019
(as restated)

10

44,965

19,923

4, 11

–

1,559,540

8

265,655

96,837

–

100,000

13, 19

Rental deposit
Total non-current assets

6,137

15,547

316,757

1,791,847

698,069

816,816

Current assets
Prepaid expenses and advances

12, 21

Prepaid tax

104,340

66,167

Trade and other receivables

13, 19, 23

54,111

392,823

Cash on hand and in banks

14, 19

599,176

593,157

Total current assets

1,455,696

1,868,963

TOTAL ASSETS

1,772,453

3,660,810

2020

2019
(as restated)

Liabilities and equity
EQUITY
Equity attributable to owners of the Company
in USD

Notes

Share capital

18, 23

1,122,156

89,632

Share premium

18, 23

14,228,283

11,645,897

Other reserves

18, 23

5,749,537

122,028

23

(25,152,049)

(11,165,046)

(4,052,073)

692,511

Accumulated losses
Total equity attributable to owners of the Company
Non-controlling interest
Total equity

–

–

(4,052,073)

692,511

242,510

24,575

LIABILITIES
Non-current liabilities
Post-employment benefit liabilities

17

Other liabilities
Total non-current liabilities

85,555

–

328,065

24,575

Current liabilities
15, 19

2,210,305

2,451,871

Convertible subordinated loan

Trade and other payables

19

2,166,206

–

Embedded derivative liability

19

92,805

–

16, 19

937,607

473,799

89,538

18,054

Accrued expenses
Tax payable
Total current liabilities

5,496,461

2,943,724

Total liabilities

5,824,526

2,968,299

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

1,772,453

3,660,810
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and
Other Comprehensive Income for the Year Ended
31 December 2020 and 2019
Notes

2020

2019
(as restated)

5

2,805,708

6,467,312

Cost of revenue

(2,395,811)

(6,177,902)

GROSS PROFIT

409,897

289,410

in USD

Revenue

Operating expenses
Marketing and distribution expenses
Administrative expenses

(263,850)

(299,733)

6, 23

(11,721,986)

(6,198,067)

(574,745)

(244,782)

7

(441,234)

(224,828)

Research and product development expenses
Other operating expenses
Impairment of goodwill

11

(1,604,050)

–

(14,195,968)

(6,678,000)

(33,913)

(617,500)

(14,229,881)

(7,295,500)

161,165

(19,329)

(14,068,716)

(7,314,829)

17

(171,318)

43,613

8

1,613

(10,903)

Loss from operations
Interest expense

22

Loss before tax
Income tax benefit (expense)

8

LOSS FOR THE YEAR

Other comprehensive income
Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:
Remeasurement of post-employment benefit liabilities
Related tax on remeasurement of post-employment benefit liabilities
Item that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:
Exchange gain (loss) arising from translation of foreign operations

(93,635)

8,618

(263,340)

41,328

(14,332,056)

(7,273,501)

Owners of the Company

(14,068,716)

(7,314,829)

Non-controlling interest

–

–

(14,068,716)

(7,314,829)

(14,332,056)

(7,273,501)

Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE LOSS FOR THE YEAR

Loss for the year attributable to:

Total comprehensive loss attributable to:
Owners of the Company
Non-controlling interest

Basic loss per share attributable to the owners of the Company

9, 23

–

–

(14,332,056)

(7,273,501)

(0.14)

(0.09)
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity for
the Year Ended 31 December 2020 and 2019

Equity attributable to the owners of the Parent Company
Total

Noncontrolling
interest

Total equity

(3,882,927)

(625,491)

–

(625,491)

–

–

6,672,249

–

6,672,249

–

1,919,254

–

1,919,254

–

1,919,254

2,625

1,834,875

(1,837,500)

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

(7,314,829)

(7,314,829)

–

(7,314,829)

–

–

8,618

32,710

41,328

–

41,328

89,632

11,645,897

122,028

(11,165,046)

692,511

–

692,511

18

852,930

(852,930)

–

–

–

–

–

18

179,594

4,067,871

–

–

4,247,465

–

4,247,465

6, 18

–

–

5,340,007

–

5,340,007

–

5,340,007

–

–

(251,418)

251,418

–

–

–

reserve

–

(632,555)

632,555

–

–

–

–

Loss for the year

–

–

–

(14,068,716)

(14,068,716)

–

(14,068,716)

–

–

(93,635)

(169,705)

(263,340)

–

(263,340)

1,122,156

14,228,283

5,749,537

(25,152,049)

(4,052,073)

–

(4,052,073)

in USD

Share
capital

Share
premium

Other
reserves

Accumulated
losses

76,356

3,149,424

31,656

18, 23

10,651

6,661,598

6, 18, 23

–

23
23

Notes

Balance as of
31 December 2018
Issuance of
share capital
(as restated)
Share options
to employees
(as restated)
Exercise of
vested shares
(as restated)
Loss for the year
(as restated)
Other comprehensive
income
Balance as of
31 December 2019
Redenomination of
share capital
Issuance of
share capital
Share options
to employees
Reversal of unexercised
vested share options
Warrant conversion

Other comprehensive
income
Balance as of
31 December 2020
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows for the
Year Ended 31 December 2020 and 2019

in USD

Notes

2020

2019
(as restated)

23

3,774,164

6,523,997

Cash flow from operating activities
Cash received from customers
Cash paid to employees
Cash paid to suppliers and others

23

(2,133,612)

(1,401,565)

22, 23

(6,472,157)

(9,204,732)

(4,831,605)

(4,082,300)

13, 23

100,000

(100,000)

10

(39,596)

(2,447)

60,404

(102,447)

NET CASH USED IN OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Cash flow from investing activities
Increase in (settlement of) convertible notes receivable
Acquisition of property and equipment
NET CASH PROVIDED BY (USED IN) INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Cash flow from financing activities
749,646

4,601,615

Increase in loans

Issuance of share capital

4,032,649

–

NET CASH PROVIDED BY FINANCING ACTIVITIES

4,782,295

4,601,615

11,094

416,868

Net increase in cash on hand and in banks
Effect of exchange rate changes in cash on hand and in banks

22, 23

(5,075)

(6,234)

CASH ON HAND AND IN BANKS AT BEGINNING OF YEAR

593,157

182,523

CASH ON HAND AND IN BANKS AT END OF YEAR

599,176

593,157
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for the
Year Ended 31 December 2020

1. General Information
Achiko AG (the “Company”) is a publicly listed company originally established on 25 May 2018
in the Cayman Islands and listed on SIX Swiss Exchange since 8 November 2019.
Effective 18 June 2020, the Company: (i) relocated its domicile to Zurich, Switzerland;
(ii) re-incorporated under the laws of Switzerland; and (iii) changed its name from Achiko
Limited to Achiko AG.
The Company’s address is at Tessinerplatz 7, CH-8002 Zurich, Switzerland.
On 27 June 2020, the Company concluded an acquisition of Achiko Switzerland AG (“ACH”).
In 2018, the Company concluded several acquisitions, including: (i) the acquisition of the
“Mimopay” payment platform through various legal entities – Gamespark Interactive Limited
(“GP”), Globimedia Network Pte. Ltd. (“GMN”), PT Progressivmedia Indonesia (“PTPI”); and
(ii) the acquisition of Kryptonite Korea Co., Ltd. (“KN”).
Achiko AG and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) are in a transformation from providing a digital
payment platform service to a healthtech business. The digital payment platform service
provides secure payment solutions for game publishers and application developers to accept
various payment method for any digital contents and goods through the “Mimopay” brand.
For the transformation to a healthtech business, the Group developed a mobile app with a
digital passporting service (Teman Sehat) and a non-invasive, saliva-based diagnostic test
for the detection of Covid-19 (AptameX).
The composition of the Company’s Board of Directors as of 31 December 2020 and 2019 is
as follows:
2020

2019

Allen Wu

Allen Wu

Remuneration Committee and CEO1

Steven Wern-Yi Goh

Steven Wern-Yi Goh

Member

Christophe Laurent

Christophe Laurent

Member

John Bing-Tsung Lin

John Bing-Tsung Lin

Chairperson
Member, Chairperson of the Nomination and

1. Steven Wern-Yi Goh has held the position as CEO since 29 July 2020.
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As of 31 December 2020, information on the subsidiaries which are included into the Group’s
Consolidated Financial Statements is as follows:

Subsidiary

Country

Year of commercial
operation

Main business
activity

Percentage of
direct ownership

Total assets
before elimination

Switzerland

2020

platform services

100.00%

275,418

Hong Kong

2016

Digital payment services

100.00%

3,947

Singapore

2016

Digital payment services

100.00%

1,223,534

Indonesia

2011

healthtech platform services

0.00%1

397,398

South Korea

–

Game software developer

100.00%

84,564

Achiko Switzerland AG
(ACH)

Digital and healthtech

Gamespark Interactive
Limited (GP)
Globimedia Network Pte.
Ltd. (GMN)
PT Progressivmedia
Indonesia (PTPI)

Digital payment and

Kryptonite Korea
Co., Ltd. (KN)

1. PTPI is a 100% controlled so-called variable Interest entity (“VIE”) incorporated in Indonesia.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
A.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Consolidated Financial Statements have been prepared in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the International Accounting Standards
Board (“IASB”).
The Consolidated Financial Statements have been prepared under the historical cost
method, except for certain accounts which are measured on the basis as described in the
related accounting policies.
The Consolidated Financial Statements, except for the Consolidated Statement of Cash
Flows, are prepared under the accrual basis of accounting. The Consolidated Statement of
Cash Flows is prepared using the direct method, with classification of cash flows into operating, investing and financing activities.

B. NEW STANDARDS, INTERPRETATIONS AND AMENDMENTS
EFFECTIVE FROM 1 JANUARY 2020
The following new standards, interpretations and amendments effective from 1 January 2020,
which do not result in any substantial changes to the Group’s accounting policies and had no
material impact on the Consolidated Financial Statements, are as follows:
i. Revised conceptual framework for financial reporting
The revised conceptual f ramework introduces new concepts on measurement,
presentation and disclosure and derecognition. It also updated the definition and the
derecognition criteria of assets and liabilities in the Consolidated Financial Statements.
The revised framework also introduces clarification on prudence, stewardship, measurement uncertainty and substance over form.
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ii. IAS 1 “Presentation of Financial Statements” and IAS 8 “Accounting Policies, Changes in
Accounting Estimates and Errors (Amendment – Definition of Material)”
The amendments provide a new definition of material that states “information is material
if omitting, misstating or obscuring it could reasonably be expected to influence decisions
that the primary users of general-purpose financial statements make on the basis of
those financial statements, which provide financial information about a specific reporting
entity”.
The amendments clarify that materiality will depend on the nature or magnitude of
information, either individually or in combination with other information, in the context of
the Financial Statements. A misstatement of information is material if it could reasonably
be expected to influence decisions made by the primary users.
iii. IFRS 3 “Business Combinations (Amendment – Definition of Business)”
The amendments to IFRS 3 clarify the minimum requirements to be a business, remove
the assessment of a market participant’s ability to replace missing elements and narrow
the definition of outputs. The amendments also add guidance to assess whether an
acquired process is substantive and adds illustrative examples. An optional fair value
concentration test is introduced which permits a simplified assessment of whether an
acquired set of activities and assets is not a business.
iv. IFRS 7 “Financial Instruments: Disclosures” and IFRS 9 “Financial Instruments
(Amendments – Interest Rate Benchmark Reform)”
The amendments to IFRS 9 provide a number of reliefs, which apply to all hedging relationships that are directly affected by the interest rate benchmark reform. A hedging
relationship is affected if the reform gives rise to uncertainties about the timing and or
amount of benchmark-based cash flows of the hedged item or the hedging instrument.
v. IFRS 16 “Leases” (Amendment – Covid-19-related Rent Concessions) – Effective
1 June 2020
The amendments provide relief to lessees from applying the IFRS 16 requirement on
lease modifications to rent concessions arising as a direct consequence of the Covid-19
pandemic. A lessee may elect not to assess whether a rent concession from a lessor is a
lease modification if it meets all of the following criteria:
– The rent concession is a direct consequence of Covid-19;
– The change in lease payments results in a revised lease consideration that is
substantially the same as, or less than, the lease consideration immediately preceding
the change;
– Any reduction in lease payments affects only payments originally due on or before
30 June 2021; and
– There is no substantive change to other terms and conditions of the lease. A lessee
that applies this practical expedient will account for any change in lease payments
resulting from the Covid-19-related rent concession in the same way it would account
for a change that is not a lease modification, i.e. as a variable lease payment.

Group Financial Report

C. NEW STANDARDS, INTERPRETATIONS AND AMENDMENTS ISSUED
BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
There are a number of standards, amendments to standards and interpretations which have
been issued by the IASB that are effective in future accounting periods that the Group has
decided not to adopt early. These include:
– IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts;
– References to the Conceptual Framework;
– Proceeds before Intended Use (Amendments to IAS 16);
– Onerous Contracts – Cost of Fulfilling a Contract (Amendments to IAS 37);
– Annual Improvements to IFRS Standards 2018 – 2020 Cycle (Amendments to IFRS 1, IFRS
9, IFRS 16, IAS 41);
– Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current (Amendments to IAS 1); and
– Interest Rate Benchmark Reform – Phase 2 (Amendment to IFRS 9, IAS 39, IFRS 7, IFRS 4
and IFRS 16).
The Group is currently assessing the impact of these new accounting standards and amendments. The Group does not expect any other standards issued by the IASB, but not yet effective, to have a material impact on the Group.

D.

PRINCIPLES OF CONSOLIDATION

Subsidiaries
Subsidiaries are entities over which the Company has control. Control exists when the Company has power over the subsidiary, is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the subsidiary, and has the ability to affect those returns through its power
over the subsidiary. A subsidiary is consolidated from the acquisition date, being the date
when the Company obtains control.
De-facto control exists in situations where the Company has the practical ability to direct
the relevant activities of the investee without holding the majority of the voting rights. In
determining whether de-facto control exists, the Company considers all relevant facts and
circumstances including:
– The size of the Company’s voting rights relative to both the size and dispersion of other
parties who hold voting rights;
– Substantive potential voting rights held by the Company and by other parties;
– Other contractual arrangements; and
– Historic patterns in voting attendance.
Changes in the Group’s ownership interest in a subsidiary that do not result in the loss of
control is recognised directly in equity.
If the Company ceases to control a subsidiary, the Company shall, on the date of loss of
control:
– Derecognise the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary at its
carrying amount;
– Derecognise the carrying amount of any non-controlling interest;
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– Recognise the fair value of the consideration received and distribution of shares (if any);
– Recognise the fair value of any investment retained;
– Reclassify the Group’s portion of the components that were previously recognised in
other comprehensive income to profit or loss or retained earnings, as appropriate; and
– Recognise any resulting difference as a gain or loss in profit or loss attributable to the
Company.

Non-controlling interest
A non-controlling interest (“NCI”) is a portion of a subsidiary’s equity which is not directly
attributable to the Company. An NCI is presented in the Equity section of the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position, separate from the Equity section attributable to
the Company. The profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income of
the subsidiary is allocated between the Company and NCI based on their relative interest in
the subsidiary, even if this results in a deficit balance for the NCI.

Transactions eliminated in consolidation
All assets, liabilities, equity, income and expenses relating to transactions between entities
of the Group, including unrealised profit or losses that are recognised in assets and resulting
from intra-Group transactions, are fully eliminated.

E.

FOREIGN CURRENCY

The Consolidated Financial Statements are presented in United States dollars (“USD”), which
is also the Company’s functional currency. Each entity in the Group determines its own functional currency and items included in the Consolidated Financial Statements of each entity
are measured using that functional currency.

Transactions and balances
Transactions in foreign currencies are recorded in the respective functional currencies of the
entity at the exchange rate prevailing at the date of the transaction. Monetary assets and
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated using the exchange rate at the
end of the reporting period. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical
cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates as at the dates of the initial
transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated
using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was measured.

Consolidation of foreign subsidiaries
All assets and liabilities of foreign subsidiaries with a functional currency other than USD
are translated using the closing rates at the date of the Consolidated Statement of Financial
Position. Income and expenses are translated at the exchange rates prevailing at the date
of transactions.
Translation differences resulting from the application of this method are classified under
other comprehensive income until the disposal of the subsidiary. At the date of disposal,
the cumulated translation differences in other comprehensive income are recognised in
profit or loss.
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Goodwill, assets acquired and liabilities assumed arising from the acquisition of subsidiaries with a functional currency other than USD are recognised in the Consolidated Financial
Statements in the functional currency and translated at the exchange rate at the acquisition date. These balances are translated at subsequent balance sheet dates at the relevant
exchange rate.
The rates used to translate foreign subsidiaries’ balances and transactions are as follows:
Income statement average rates

Balance sheet period-end rates

2020

2019

2020

2019

14,645.12

14,146.33

14,040.90

13,925.80

1,179.07

1,165.57

1,088.43

1,157.32

7.76

7.84

7.75

7.79

0.91¹

–

0.88

–

In United States Dollar (USD)

Indonesian Rupiah (IDR)
Korean Won (KRW)
Hong Kong Dollar (HKD)
Swiss Franc (CHF)
1. Average rate from date of acquisition to year-end.

F.

BUSINESS COMBINATION

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method. Identifiable assets
acquired and liabilities are measured initially at their fair values at acquisition date. For each
individual business combination, the Group elects to recognise NCI in the acquiree on the
acquisition date, at the NCI’s proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets.
Other components of NCI are measured at fair value, unless another measurement basis is
required by IFRS. Acquisition-related costs are recognised as expenses in the period in which
the costs are incurred and the services are received.
Any excess of the sum of the fair value of the consideration transferred in the business combination, the amount of the NCI in the acquiree and the fair value of the Group’s previously
held equity interest in the acquiree (if any), over the net fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable assets and liabilities, is recorded as goodwill. In instances where the fair value of the total
consideration transferred is lower than the identifiable net assets, the difference is recognised as gain on the bargain purchase immediately in profit or loss on the date of acquisition.
Goodwill is initially measured at cost. Subsequently, goodwill is measured at cost less any
accumulated impairment losses.

G.

TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES

A related party is a person or entity that is related to the Group.
1. A person or a close member of that person’s family is related to the Group if that person:
i.

Has control or joint control over the Group;

ii.

Has significant influence over the Group; or

iii. Is a member of the key management personnel of the Group or parent of the Group.
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2. An entity is related to the Group if any of the following conditions apply:
i.

The entity and the Group are members of the same group;

ii.

The entity is an associate or joint venture of the Group (or an associate or joint
venture of a member of a group of which the Group is a member);

iii. The entity and the Group are joint ventures of the same third party;
iv. The entity which is a joint venture of the Group and other entity which is an
associate of the Group;
v.

The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of employees of either
the Group or an entity related to the Group;

vi. The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person identified in (1);
vii. A person identified in (1) (i) has significant influence over the entity or is a member
of the key management personnel of the entity, (or parent of the entity); or
viii. The entity, or a member of a group to which the entity is part of the Group, provides
services to the key management personnel of the Group or to the parent entity of
the Group.
All significant transactions and balances with related parties are disclosed in the notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements.

H.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Financial assets include cash on hand and in banks and trade and other receivables. Financial liabilities include trade and other payables, accrued expenses and subordinated loans,
which comprise host contracts and related embedded derivative liabilities.

Initial recognition and measurement – financial assets
Financial instruments are recognised when, and only when, the Group becomes party to
the contractual provisions of the instruments.
At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial instrument at its fair value plus, in the
case of a financial instrument not at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs that
are directly attributable to the acquisition of the financial instrument. Transaction costs of a
financial instrument carried at fair value through profit or loss are expensed in profit or loss.
Trade receivables are measured at the amount which the Group is expected to receive in
exchange for the goods or services transferred to a customer (excluding amounts collected
on behalf of third parties) if the trade receivables do not contain a significant financing
component at initial recognition.

Subsequent measurement– financial assets
On initial recognition, a financial asset is classified as measured at: amortised cost; fair value
through other comprehensive income (“FVOCI”) – debt investment; FVOCI – equity investment; or fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”). The classification of financial assets under
IFRS 9 is generally based on the business model in which a financial asset is managed and
its contractual cash flow characteristics. The Group considers whether the contractual cash
flows represent solely payments of principal and interest that are consistent with a basic
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lending arrangement. Where the contractual terms introduce exposure to risk or volatility
that are inconsistent with a basic lending arrangement, the related financial assets are classified and measured at FVTPL.
i. Amortised cost
Financial assets that are held for the collection of contractual cash flows where those
cash flows represent solely payments of principal and interest are measured at amortised
cost. Financial assets are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method,
less impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the assets are
derecognised or impaired, and through the amortisation process.
ii. Debt investments at FVOCI
Financial assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows and for selling the
financial assets, where the assets’ cash flows represent solely payments of principal and
interest, are measured at FVOCI. Financial assets measured at FVOCI are subsequently
measured at fair value. Any gains or losses from changes in fair value of the financial
assets are recognised in other comprehensive income. Impairment losses, foreign
exchange gains and losses, and interest calculated using the effective interest method
are recognised in profit or loss. The cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in other
comprehensive income (“OCI”) is reclassified from OCI to profit or loss as a reclassification
adjustment when the financial asset is derecognised.
iii. Equity investments at FVOCI
On initial recognition of an investment in equity instruments that is not held for trading,
the Group may irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes in fair value in OCI.
Dividends from such investments are to be recognised in profit or loss when the Group’s
right to receive payments is established. Any gains or losses on equity investments at
FVOCI are never reclassified to profit or loss.
iv. FVTPL
Assets that do not meet the criteria for amortised cost or FVOCI are measured at FVTPL.
Any gain or loss on financial instruments subsequently measured at FVTPL is recognised
in profit or loss in the period in which it arises.
As of 31 December 2020, the Group classifies its financial assets at amortised cost.

Initial recognition and measurement – financial liabilities
Financial liabilities are recognised when, and only when, the Group becomes a party to the
contractual provisions of the financial instrument. The Group determines the classification
of its financial liabilities at initial recognition.
All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value, plus directly attributable transaction costs in the case of financial liabilities not at fair value through profit or loss.
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Subsequent measurement – financial liabilities
The Group classifies its financial liabilities into the categories of (i) financial liabilities at fair
value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”) and (ii) financial liabilities measured at amortised cost.
i. FVTPL
A financial liability is classified as at FVTPL if it is acquired or incurred principally for the
purpose of selling or repurchasing it in the near term or if it is part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments that are managed together and for which there is evidence
of a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking. Derivatives are also categorised as
held for trading unless they are designated and effective as hedging instruments.
Gains and losses arising from changes in fair value of financial liabilities classified as
FVTPL are included in profit or loss.
ii. Amortised cost
After initial recognition, financial liabilities that are not carried at fair value through profit
or loss are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the straight line method.
Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognised and
through the amortisation process.
As of 31 December 2020, the Group classifies trade and other payables, accrued expenses
and host contracts of convertible subordinated loans at amortised cost. Embedded
derivative liabilities in the convertible subordinated loan are classified as at FVTPL.
Derecognition
The Group derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from
the financial asset expire, or it transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash flows in a
transaction in which substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial
asset are transferred, or in which the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all of
the risks and rewards of ownership and it does not retain control of the financial asset. The
difference between the carrying amount and the sum of the consideration received and any
cumulative gain or loss that had been recognised in other comprehensive income for debt
instruments is recognised in profit or loss.
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or
cancelled or expires. On derecognition, the difference between the carrying amounts and
the consideration paid is recognised in profit or loss.
Offsetting
Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount is presented in the Consolidated
Statement of Financial position when, and only when, the Group currently has a legally
enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts and intends either to settle on a net basis
or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.
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I.

IMPAIRMENT OF FINANCIAL ASSETS

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit losses (“ECLs”) for financial assets not
held at fair value through profit or loss and financial guarantee contracts. ECLs are based on
the difference between the contractual cash flows due in accordance with the contract and
all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at an approximation of the
original effective interest rate. The expected cash flows will include cash flows from the sale
of collateral held or other credit enhancements that are integral to the contractual terms.
ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for which there has not been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses
that result from default events that are possible within the next twelve months (a twelvemonth ECL). For those credit exposures for which there has been a significant increase in
credit risk since initial recognition, a loss allowance is recognised for credit losses expected
over the remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of timing of the default (a lifetime ECL).
For trade receivables and contract assets, the Group applies a simplified approach in calculating ECLs. Therefore, the Group does not track changes in credit risk, but instead recognises a loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date. The Group has established a provision matrix that is based on its historical credit loss experience, adjusted for
forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the economic environment.
For debt instruments at fair value through OCI, the Group applies the low credit risk simplification. At every reporting date, the Group evaluates whether the debt instrument is
considered to have low credit risk using all reasonable and supportable information that is
available without undue cost or effort. In making that evaluation, the Group reassesses the
internal credit rating of the debt instrument. In addition, the Group considers that there has
been a significant increase in credit risk when the contractual payments are more than 30
days past due.
The Group considers a financial asset in default when contractual payments are 90 days past
due. However, in certain cases, the Group may also consider a financial asset to be in default
when internal or external information indicates that the Group is unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual amounts in full before taking into account any credit enhancements
held by the Group. A financial asset is written off when there is no reasonable expectation of
recovering the contractual cash flows.

J.

CASH ON HAND AND IN BANKS

Cash on hand and in banks consist of cash on hand, and cash in banks which are neither
pledged for collateral nor restricted in use.

K.

PREPAID EXPENSES

Prepaid expenses are amortised over their beneficial periods using the straight-line method.

L.

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

Property and equipment are initially recorded at cost which includes the purchase price,
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borrowing costs if any, and other costs directly attributable to bring the asset to the present
location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by
the management. Subsequent expenses are included in the cost of an asset or recognised
as a separate asset only when it is probable that the Group will obtain future economic benefits associated with the assets and acquisition cost of assets can be measured reliably. Cost
of maintenance and repairs that do not meet the recognition criteria is recognised directly
in profit or loss.
Subsequent to initial recognition, the Group uses a cost model in which property and equipment are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment
losses (if any).
Depreciation of property and equipment, which comprise furniture and office equipment, is
computed using the straight-line method based on the estimated useful lives of 4−8 years.
The estimated useful lives, residual value and depreciation method of property and equipment
are reviewed at each year end, with any changes accounted for as changes in accounting estimates which are recognised on a prospective basis.
An item of property and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition
of the asset, accounted for as the difference between the net proceeds from disposal and the
carrying amount of property and equipment, is recognised in profit or loss in the year when
the asset is derecognised.

M.

INTANGIBLE ASSET

At initial recognition, an intangible asset is measured at cost. Subsequent to initial recognition, an intangible asset is carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation and any
accumulated impairment loss. The useful life of intangible assets is assessed to be either
finite or indefinite.
An intangible asset with an indefinite life is not amortised. Instead, this is tested for impairment annually or more frequently if the events and circumstances indicate that the intangible asset may be impaired.

N.

RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT COSTS

Research costs are expensed as incurred. Deferred development costs arising from development expenditures on an individual project are recognised as an intangible asset when
the Group can demonstrate the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so
that it will be available for use or sale, its intention to complete and its ability to use or sell
the asset, how the asset will generate future economic benefits, the availability of resources
to complete and the ability to measure reliably the expenditures during the development.
Subsequent to initial recognition of deferred development costs as an intangible asset, it
is carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses.
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Amortisation of the intangible asset begins when development is complete and the asset is
available for use. Deferred development costs have a finite useful life and are amortised over
the period of expected sales from the related project on a straight-line basis.

Goodwill
Goodwill arising from a business combination is initially measured at its cost, which is the
excess of the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interests in the acquiree and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in
the acquiree (if any) over the net of the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets
acquired and the liabilities assumed.
After initial recognition, goodwill acquired in a business combination is measured at cost
less any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is not amortised.

O.

IMPAIRMENT

Non-financial assets
Non-financial assets are subject to impairment whenever the management assesses that
events or changes in circumstance indicate that their carrying amounts may not be recoverable. If such an indication exists, the Group makes an estimate of the recoverable amount
of the asset.
The recoverable amount for an individual asset is the higher amount between the fair value
less costs to sell and its value-in-use. Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable
amount of an individual asset, an impairment test is carried out on the cash-generating unit
(“CGU”) – the smallest group of assets to which the asset belongs for which there are separately
identifiable cash flows.
In determining fair value less costs to sell, the Group takes into account a market participant’s
ability to generate economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use, or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use.
The Group may use appropriate valuation techniques to determine the fair value of the asset.
In assessing value-in-use, the estimated net future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value
of money and the risks specific to the asset.
If the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is considered
im-paired and is written down to its recoverable amount. Impairment losses are recognised
in profit or loss.
An assessment is made each reporting period to determine if there is an indication that previously recognised impairment loss may no longer exist or may have decreased. If such an
indication exists, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to its recoverable amount. The
reversal is limited so that the carrying amount of the asset will not exceed the recoverable or
carrying amount, net of depreciation, had no impairment loss been recognised previously.
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Such a reversal is recognised in profit or loss. After reversal, the future depreciation of assets is
adjusted to allocate the revised carrying amount of assets using the systematic basis throughout the remaining useful lives.

Goodwill
Goodwill is tested for impairment annually irrespective of whether there is any indication
of impairment.
For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to each CGU that is expected
to benefit from the synergies of the business combination, irrespective of whether other
assets or liabilities of the acquiree were assigned to those units or groups of units. Each unit
to which the goodwill is allocated represents the lowest level within the entity at which the
goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes and is not larger than an operating segment.

P.

POST-EMPLOYMENT BENEFIT LIABILITIES

In providing post-employment benefit liabilities to its employees, the Group participates in
the national pension schemes as defined by the laws of the countries in which it has operations. The calculation of post-employment benefit liabilities is based on the projected unit
credit method.
The amount recognised as post-employment benefit liabilities in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position represents the present value of the defined benefit obligation.
Service costs are recognised in profit or loss and include current and past service costs as
well as gains and losses on curtailments.
Net interest expense is recognised in profit or loss and is calculated by applying the discount
rate used to measure the defined benefit obligation at the beginning of the period to the
balance of the net defined benefit obligation, considering the effects of contributions and
benefit payments during the period.
Remeasurements of the defined benefit obligation are recognised directly within equity.
The remeasurements include:
– Actuarial gains and losses;
– Returns on plan assets (excluding interest); and
– Any asset ceiling effects (excluding interest).
Settlements of defined benefit obligations are recognised in the period in which the
settlement occurs.

Q.

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE ISSUANCE EXPENSES

Proceeds from the issuance of ordinary shares are recognised as share capital in equity.
Incremental costs directly attributable to the issuance of ordinary shares are deducted
against share capital.
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R.

SHARE PREMIUM

Share premium includes the difference between the excess of paid-in share capital made
by shareholders over its par value of the Company’s shares.

S.

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

The Group grants additional benefits to employees of the Group in the form of share options.
The cost of these equity-settled share-based payment transactions with employees is
measured by reference to the fair value of the options at the date on which the options are
granted, which takes into account market conditions and non-vesting conditions. The cost
is recognised directly in profit or loss, with a corresponding increase in the employee share
option reserve, over the vesting period. The cumulative expense recognised at each reporting date until the vesting date reflects the extent to which the vesting period has expired and
the Group’s best estimate of the number of options that will ultimately vest. The charge or
credit to profit or loss for the period represents the movement in the cumulative employee
share option reserve.
The employee share option reserve is transferred to retained earnings upon expiry of the
share option.

T.

WARRANTS

Warrants issued are treated as equity and recorded as a separate component of equity.
Warrants are measured at fair value at the date of issue using Black-Scholes pricing model,
which incorporates certain input assumptions such as exercise price, market value of shares,
risk-free interest rate, expected warrant life and expected shares volatility.

U.

REVENUE AND EXPENSE RECOGNITION

Revenue from contracts with customers
Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when the Group satisfies a performance obligation by transferring a promised good or service to the customer, which is
when the customer obtains control of the good or service. A performance obligation may
be satisfied at a point in time or over time. The amount of revenue recognised pertains to
the portion of satisfied performance obligation.
Revenue is measured based on the consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled
in exchange for transferring promised goods or services to a customer, excluding amounts
collected on behalf of third parties. The Group does not provide any refunds, warranties or
similar obligations.
i. Performance obligation
The Group has identified its performance obligation primarily derived from revenue of
the “Mimopay” payment channel used for the sale of game vouchers and phone credits
and ATM payments.
ii. Transaction price
Transaction price may comprise of fixed and variable components. The revenues derived
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from the payment channel is fixed prices, and transaction price is allocated based on the
contract price agreed with the customers at each transaction.
iii. Revenue recognition
Revenue is recognised as soon as the performance obligation is satisfied at a point in
time by transferring the promised goods or services to the customer, which is when the
customer obtains control. The Group immediately bills the customer upon the satisfaction
of performance obligation.
Billed amounts are included in trade receivables. As a result of the short turnaround time,
no contract asset and significant financing component are recorded.

Expenses
Expenses are recognised when incurred on an accrual basis.

V.

LEASES

At the inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether the contract is, or contains, a
lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of
an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.
The Company recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability at the lease commencement date. The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost, which comprises the initial
amount of the lease liability adjusted for any lease payment made at or before the commencement date, plus any initial direct cost incurred and an estimate of costs to dismantle
and remove the underlying asset or to restore the underlying asset to the condition required
by the terms and conditions of the lease, less any lease incentives received.
The right-of-use asset is subsequently depreciated using the straight-line method from the
commencement date to the earlier of the end of the useful life of the right-of-use asset or
the end of the lease term.
The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not
paid at the commencement date, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease or,
if that rate cannot be readily determined, using the incremental borrowing rate. Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise fixed payments, including
in-substance fixed payments less any lease incentive receivable.
Short-term leases (with terms of less than or equal to 12 months) and leases of low-value
assets do not apply the recognition principles stipulated in IFRS 16. The Group recognised
the lease payments on a straight-line basis during the lease period in the Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income. The expense is recorded under
general and administrative expenses in profit or loss.
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W.

TAXATION

i. Current income tax
The current tax (liability), pertaining to the amount of the expected refund from (or
payable to) the tax authorities, is calculated on the basis of tax law applicable at the
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position date, in the countries where the Group
operates and generates taxable income.
Current income tax is recognised on taxable income in the Consolidated Statement of
Profit or Loss for the Year, unless it relates to items recognised in other comprehensive
income directly in equity. In this case, the tax is recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity.
ii. Deferred tax
Deferred tax is recognised using the liability method on temporary differences arising
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amount for reporting
purposes at the end of the reporting period.
Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax
assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences only to the extent that it is
probably that future taxable profit is available against which the deductible temporary
differences can be utilised. The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at
each end of the reporting date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable
that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax assets
to be utilised.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply
to the year when the asset is realised or the liability is settled based on tax law applicable
at the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position date.
Deferred tax is recognised on taxable income in the Consolidated Statement of Profit
or Loss and other Comprehensive Income for the Year except to the extent that the tax
relates to transactions recognised outside profit or loss (either in other comprehensive
income or charged directly in equity).
Deferred tax assets and liabilities can be offset if, and only if, there is a legally enforceable
right to offset the current tax assets and liabilities and the deferred tax assets and liabilities relate to the same taxable entity and the same taxation authority.

X.

EARNINGS (LOSS) PER SHARE

The basic earnings (loss) per share is computed by dividing the profit (loss) for the year
attributable to owners of the Company by the weighted average number of issued and fully
paid-in shares outstanding during the year.
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The diluted earnings (loss) per share is calculated when the Company has instruments which
are potentially dilutive ordinary shares. Anti-dilutive shares are excluded from basic and
dilutive earnings (loss) per share calculations.

Y.

OPERATING SEGMENTS

Operating segments are presented consistently with the internal reporting prepared by segment managers to the operational decision maker. Operating segments are independently
managed by the respective manager who is responsible for the performance of the respective operating segment under their charge, while the operating decision maker is the person
who regularly reviews the segment result in order to allocate resources to the segment and
to assess the segment performance.
The Group operates as one segment. Accordingly, the Company did not present the segment
information in a separate note.

Z.

PROVISIONS

A provision is recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as
a result of a past event, it is probable that the Group will be required to settle the obligation,
and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.
The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required
to settle the present obligation at the end of the reporting period, taking into account the
risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. Where a provision is measured using
the cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is the present
value of those cash flows.
When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be
recovered from a third party, a receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that
reimbursement will be received and the amount of the receivable can be measured reliably.

AA.

CONTINGENCIES

Contingent liabilities are not recognised in the financial statements but are disclosed unless
the possibility of an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits is remote. Contingent assets are not recognised but are disclosed in the financial statements when an inflow
of economic benefits is probable.

3. Significant Accounting Estimation and Judgments
The preparation of Consolidated Financial Statements requires the management to make
judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of income,
expenses, assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent liabilities at the end of the
reporting period. Judgments and estimates used in preparing the Consolidated Financial
Statements are reviewed periodically based on historical experience and various factors,
including expectations and events in the future that may occur. However, actual results may
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differ from these estimates. The uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could
result in outcomes that required a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities affected in the future period.

JUDGMENTS MADE IN THE APPLICATION OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES
The following judgments are made by the management in the process of applying the
Group’s accounting policies which have the most significant effects on the amounts recognised in the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Determination of functional currency
The Group measures foreign currency transactions in the respective functional currencies
of the Company and its subsidiaries. In determining the functional currencies of the entities
in the Group, judgment is required to determine the currency that mainly influences sales
prices for goods and services and of the country whose competitive forces and regulations
mainly determines the sales prices of its goods and services. The functional currencies of
the entities in the Group are determined based on the management’s assessment of the
economic environment in which the entities operate and the entities’ process of determining sales prices.

Consolidation of entities in which the Group holds less than a majority of voting
rights – PTPI
The laws and regulations in Indonesia place restrictions on foreign investments and ownership of entities engaged in certain industries. Therefore, foreign investments for these
entities can be held via a variable interest entity (“VIE”) structure. The Company considers
that it controls PTPI even though it does not have voting rights due to a series of contractual agreements entered into by the Company with PTPI shareholders, which provides that
100% of the shares under the name of PTPI shareholders are held in trust for the Group,
being the beneficial owner. The contractual arrangements with PTPI shareholders enable
the Company to: (i) exercise effective control over PTPI; (ii) receive substantially all of the
economic benefits and absorb losses of PTPI; and (iii) have an exclusive call option to purchase all or part of the equity interests in and assets of PTPI if and when permitted under
the relevant laws.
From the acquisition date of PTPI on 22 October 2018, there is no history of other shareholders collaborating to use their votes collectively or to outvote the Group.

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of uncertainty of estimation at the reporting date that have a significant risk of causing material adjustments
to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are disclosed
below. The Group based its assumptions and estimates on parameters available when the
Consolidated Financial Statements were prepared. Existing circumstances and assumptions about future developments may change due to market changes or circumstances
arising beyond the control of the Group. Such changes are reflected in the assumptions
when they occur.
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Goodwill allocation and impairment
In its business combinations, the Group applies acquisition accounting, which requires
extensive use of accounting estimates to allocate the purchase price to the fair market values
of the acquired assets and liabilities, including intangible assets. The business acquisitions
made in 2018 and in 2020 resulted in goodwill.
Goodwill is not amortised but is subject to annual impairment testing. The carrying amount
of goodwill is disclosed in Note 11 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
The management has fully impaired the goodwill on the assumption that the cash generating units to which the goodwill was allocated do not generate sufficient revenue and
gross profit for the Group. The assumption is based on the actual result of operations during
the period.

Post-employment benefit liabilities
Measurement of the Group’s post-employment benefit expense and liabilities are dependent on its selection of certain actuarial assumptions. Those assumptions include, among
others, the discount rate, annual increase in salary rate, annual employee resignation
rate, disability rate, retirement age and mortality rate. Actual results may differ from the
assumptions accounted for in accordance with the accounting policies as described in
Note 2 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
Although the Group believes that the assumptions at the reporting date were reasonable
and appropriate, significant differences in actual results or significant changes in assumptions may materially affect the Group’s post-employment benefit expense and liabilities.

Recognition of deferred tax assets
The Group has recognised the deferred tax assets from the fiscal losses and other deductible temporary differences as the management determines that sufficient taxable income
will be available against which the fiscal losses and other deductible temporary differences
can be utilised.
The management uses judgment and estimates in assessing the probability of future taxable
income aided by forecasting and budgeting techniques.

Going concern
The Board of Directors and the management regularly assess the Group’s ability to continue
as a going concern and is of the opinion that the Group is to be viewed as continuing in business for the foreseeable future. The Consolidated Financial Statements have been prepared
on a going concern basis.
Details of the going concern assessment are discussed in Note 24.
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Covid-19 pandemic
On 30 January 2020, the World Health Organization (the “WHO”) announced a global health
emergency due to a new coronavirus strain (the “Covid-19 outbreak”) and the risks to the
international community as the virus spreads globally beyond its point of origin. In March
2020, the WHO classified the Covid-19 outbreak as a pandemic, based on the rapid increase
in exposure globally. Whilst vaccinations are currently being rolled out, from publicly available information, the Company is of the view that the demand for testing and technology
solutions around the pandemic may last for many years.
The global Covid-19 pandemic has left its mark worldwide for the year 2020. Not only did the
pandemic affect the Group’s business performance, but it also affected the global economic
situation. The impact of the Covid-19 pandemic continues to evolve as of the date of this
report. The Board of Directors is actively monitoring the impact of the global situation on its
financial condition, liquidity, operations, industry and workforce. Given the evolution of the
Covid-19 pandemic, it is not possible to quantify the potential financial impact of Covid-19 as
there is a high degree of uncertainty and especially the extent and duration of the pandemic,
government measures and consumer behaviour.
The Group has taken necessary and deliberate actions to protect the Group’s business from
severe impact. The Company has developed Teman Sehat and holds sole commercialisation
rights to the technology underlying AptameX. Teman Sehat was launched in June 2020 in
the areas of South Tangerang and Pekanbaru, Indonesia, as approved by the Indonesian
government. In August 2020, the Company filed a provisional patent for a novel diagnostic
testing technology for Covid-19 and entered into a license agreement with Regenacellx.
sl which grants commercialisation rights in exchange for royalty payments and technical
advice.
In December 2020, the Company signed a research agreement with Udayana University
Research Department, a leading state university in the province of Bali, Indonesia. The
partners plan to conduct a study to better understand acceptance of mass testing in the
broader population, as well as the practicality of mass testing and its effects on healthcare
and consumer and business confidence. To this end, diagnostic testing for Covid-19 will be
deployed across three islands in the province of Bali (Nusa Penida, Nusa Lembongan and
Nusa Ceningan), Indonesia in 2021. The study will include Teman Sehat, Achiko’s mobile app
with a digital passporting service, and Achiko’s non-invasive, saliva-based diagnostic test for
the detection of Covid-19, when available.
Selling AptameX on its own or combined with its mobile app Teman Sehat, the Company
believes that the technology can play a crucial role in solving the world’s pandemic problem and returning to our normal lives. The Board of Directors and the management believe
that the Group’s performance can gradually improve both financially and operationally by
implementing the Group’s strategy to transform into a healthtech company.
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4. Business Combination
BUSINESS COMBINATION DURING THE YEAR –
ACHIKO SWITZERLAND AG (“ACH”)
On 27 June 2020, the Company acquired 100% of the voting equity instruments of Achiko
Switzerland AG, a digital and healthtech platform services company. The total cash consideration is CHF 100,000 (USD 105,601).
The fair value of the assets and liabilities as at the date of acquisition is as follows:
in USD

Fair value recognised at acquisition date

Trade and other receivables

319,318

Cash on hand and in banks

8,616

Trade and other payables
Tax payables
Fair value of net assets on acquisition date
Share consideration transferred
Goodwill arising from acquisition

(247,882)
(18,972)
61,080
105,601
44,521

Total transaction costs amounting to USD 4,950 related to the acquisition is recognised as
part of “Administrative expenses” in the Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and other
Comprehensive Income.
The carrying amount of trade and other receivables at acquisition approximate their fair
value. At the acquisition date, the contractual cash flows pertaining to trade receivables are
expected to be collected.
The goodwill of USD 44,521 comprises the technological development of the Swiss and
European market. None of the goodwill recognised is expected to be deductible for income
tax purposes.
As a result of the acquisition, the Company is expected to have a development capability in
Switzerland.
If the acquisition had occurred on 1 January 2020, this would have had no material impact
on the Group revenue and profit for the period.

BUSINESS COMBINATIONS COMPLETED IN PRIOR PERIODS
As disclosed in the previous year’s Annual Report, the Company acquired 100% of the voting
equity instruments of Gamespark Interactive Limited (“GP”) and Globimedia Network Pte.
Ltd. (“GMN”) on 30 September 2018.
In connection with the acquisition of 100% equity interest in GP and GMN, the Company
would have had the requirement to issue 3,750,000 ordinary shares at USD 0.075 per share
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contingent on the conditions outlined below. The fair value of the shares is based on the
Guideline Company Method (“GCM”) at the acquisition date.
The consideration settled in shares was contingent on the following conditions:
– Issuance of 1,875,000 shares, if the consolidated combined revenue of PT Progressivmedia Indonesia (PTPI), GMN and GP exceeds USD 3,500,000 for a period of 6 months
ending 30 April 2019.
– Issuance of 1,875,000 shares, if the consolidated combined revenue of PTPI, GMN and
GP exceeds USD 4,300,000 for a period of 6 months ending 31 October 2019.
As of 31 December 2020, the Company has not issued ordinary shares to settle the contingent
consideration related to the acquisition of GP and GMN because the consolidated revenue
has not been achieved.

5. Revenue
In 2020 and 2019, revenue generated was from payment service businesses through different
payment channels, including telco vouchers, ATM payments and game cards and vouchers.
These channels are used when paying for certain digital goods and services.
Revenue is recognised at a point in time upon completion of the payment transaction.
The Group has disaggregated the revenue from contracts with customers into primary
geographic markets as follows:
2020

2019

Indonesia

2,160,705

5,940,019

Singapore

634,955

405,471

in USD

Hong Kong
Total

10,048

121,822

2,805,708

6,467,312
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6. Administrative Expenses
This account consists of:

2020

2019
(as restated)

5,340,007

1,919,254

in USD

Employee share options expense (Notes 18 and 23)
Professional fees

3,380,907

1,439,872

Salaries and wages (Note 17)

2,041,422

1,399,451

Directors’ remuneration

350,560

379,503

Quality management & regulatory affairs

148,563

–

Rent

68,514

42,144

Post-employment benefit expense (Note 17)

39,266

11,896

Travel and transportation

32,839

111,614

Depreciation and amortisation (Note 10)

20,532

11,154

–

135,416

Impairment loss on receivables
Others
Total

299,376

747,763

11,721,986

6,198,067

7. Other Operating Expenses
This account consists of:
2020

2019

774,020

122,804

32,987

140,625

in USD

Financing and listing fees
License costs

15,582

17,855

Foreign exchange gains (losses)

Bank administration

(103,903)

97,854

Other income

(277,452)

(154,310)

441,234

224,828

Total

Financing and listing fees consist of expenses related to the Company’s fundraising and
listing on SIX Swiss Exchange.

Group Financial Report

Achiko Annual Report 2020

8. Taxation
A.

INCOME TAX

The reconciliation between loss before tax per the Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss
and other Comprehensive Income and Estimated Fiscal Loss of the Company is as follows:

2020

2019
(as restated)

(14,229,881)

(7,295,500)

642,570

246,935

in USD

Loss before tax per Consolidated Statement of
Profit or Loss and other Comprehensive Income (Note 23)
Loss before tax of subsidiaries
Consolidation eliminating entries
Loss before tax of the Company

(953,697)

10,008

(14,541,008)

(7,038,557)

Fiscal correction: non-deductible expenses
Estimated fiscal loss

5,199,018

135,416

(9,341,990)

(6,903,141)

2020

2019

–

–

–

–

The consolidated income tax expenses (benefit) is determined as follows:
in USD

Income tax expense – Company
Income tax expense (benefit) – Subsidiaries
Current income tax
Deferred income tax
Consolidated income tax expense (benefit)

B.

(161,165)

19,329

(161,165)

19,329

DEFERRED TAX

Details of the Group’s deferred tax assets are as follows:
2020

in USD

Fiscal losses
Post-employment benefit liabilities
Impairment loss on receivables

Expense to other
comprehensive
income

Exchange
differences

Ending
balance

158,088

–

5,901

254,556

2,935

1,613

134

10,826

Beginning
balance

Benefit (expense)
to profit or loss

90,567
6,144
1,365

(1,296)

–

(69)

–

Depreciation

(1,239)

1,438

–

74
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Deferred tax assets

96,837

161,165

1,613

6,040

265,655
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2019

in USD

Fiscal losses
Post-employment benefit liabilities

Expense to other
comprehensive
income

Exchange
differences

Ending
balance

(22,439)

–

4,494

90,567

2,974

(10,903)

430

6,144

Beginning
balance

Benefit (expense)
to profit or loss

108,512
13,643

Impairment loss on receivables

–

1,354

–

11

1,365

Depreciation

–

(1,218)

–

(21)

(1,239)

122,155

(19,329)

(10,903)

4,914

96,837

Deferred tax assets

The management believes that these deferred tax assets are recoverable against future
taxable income.
As of 31 December 2020 and 2019, deferred tax assets from accumulated fiscal losses and
other deductible temporary differences arising from the Company are not recognised as
the management believes that no sufficient future taxable profit will be available to utilise
the deferred tax assets.
The corporate tax rate of the Company is 21.15%.

9. Loss per Share
The computation of loss per share for the year ended 31 December 2020 and 2019 is as follows:

2020

2019
(as restated)

Loss for the year (Note 23)

(14,068,716)

(7,314,829)

Outstanding weighted average number of shares during the year

102,976,969

83,112,867

(0.14)

(0.09)

in USD

Basic loss per share

As of 31 December 2020 and 2019, the Company does not have any potentially dilutive
ordinary shares.
The following have not been included in the calculation of diluted earnings per share
because they are considered anti-dilutive for the calculation of loss per share: (i) 7,200,671
and 4,044,271 vested shares options granted to employees as of 31 December 2020 and
2019, respectively; (ii) 1,351,679 warrants granted to Negma in 2020; (iii) contingent consideration of 3,750,000 shares from business acquisition of GMN and GP; and (iv) potential
shares to be issued for the settlement of convertible subordinated loan (Note 19).
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10. Property and Equipment
The details and movement of property and equipment are as follows:
2020

in USD

Beginning
balance

Additions

Deduction

Exchange
differences

Ending
balance

Cost
Computer
Office equipment
Testing equipment
Sub-total

1,196

–

–

–

1,196

38,895

8,583

7,854

2,475

42,099

–

31,013

–

–

31,013

40,091

39,596

7,854

2,475

74,308

Accumulated depreciation
Computer
Office equipment
Testing equipment

33

332

–

–

365

20,135

20,200

7,615

(3,742)

28,978

–

–

–

–

–

Sub-total

20,168

20,532

7,615

(3,742)

29,343

Net book value

19,923

44,965

2019

in USD

Beginning
balance

Additions

Deduction

Exchange
differences

Ending
balance

–

1,196

–

–

1,196

Cost
Computer
Office equipment

38,305

1,251

–

(661)

38,895

Sub-total

38,305

2,447

–

(661)

40,091

–

33

–

–

33

Accumulated depreciation
Computer
Office equipment

10,557

11,121

–

(1,543)

20,135

Sub-total

10,557

11,154

–

(1,543)

20,168

Net book value

27,748

Depreciation expenses in 2020 and 2019 are charged to administrative expenses in the
Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and other Comprehensive Income (Note 6).
The management believes that the carrying amount of property and equipment is recoverable and there are no events or changes in circumstances which may indicate impairment;
therefore, no provision for impairment of property and equipment was provided.

19,923
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11. Goodwill and Impairment
Details of the Group's goodwill and impairment are as follows:
2020

2019

1,559,540

1,559,540

44,510

–

in USD

Beginning balance
Acquisition of Achiko Switzerland AG
Impairment of goodwill

(1,604,050)

Ending balance

–

1,559,540

2020

2019

Advances

30,835

101,937

Prepayment

17,234

56,657

650,000

650,000

As of 31 December 2020, the Group recognised an impairment of goodwill amounting to
USD 1,604,050.
PTPI, GP and GMN collectively support the payment platform Mimopay, where PTPI enters
into revenue agreements in Indonesia and subsequently is responsible for collecting cash
from customers. GMN and GP function as cost centres which pay the merchants. KN and
ACH do not generate cash inflows which are largely independent from the Group at this
stage. Therefore, the cash flow projections of the Mimopay business are used as the basis
for assessing the goodwill of the Group.
The business performance in the second half of the reporting period has been declining.
Based on this performance, the Board of Directors reviewed and discussed the circumstances and decided to write off the goodwill as of 31 December 2020.

12. Prepaid Expenses and Advances
This account consists of:
in USD

Advances and prepayments

Prepaid expenses
Advertising (Note 21)
Accelerators start-ups
Total

–

8,222

698,069

816,816

Advances pertain to the amount provided by the Company to Finaplana AG to fund the
incorporation of ACH. In 2020, the Company used the advances to purchase the equity
shares in ACH.
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Prepaid expenses represent a media placement value from PT Media Nusantara Citra Tbk
(“MNC”). MNC is the largest media company in Southeast Asia.

13. Trade and Other Receivables
This account consists of:

2020

2019
(as restated)

15,808

392,052

38,303

771

in USD

Trade receivables

Other receivables
Current (Note 23)
Non-current
Total

–

100,000

54,111

492,823

Trade receivables
Trade receivables come from third parties, are non-interest bearing and are generally on 30
to 90-day terms. They are recognised at their original invoice amounts which represent their
fair values on initial recognition.
The Group applies the simplified approach to measuring expected credit losses using a lifetime expected credit loss provision for trade receivables. To measure expected credit losses
on a collective basis, trade receivables are grouped based on similar credit risk and aging.
The expected loss rates are based on the Group’s historical credit losses experienced prior
to the period end. The historical loss rates are then adjusted for current and forward-looking
information on macroeconomic factors affecting the Group’s customers.
In 2019, the Group directly wrote off trade receivables amounting to USD 5,416 due to the
bankruptcy of a customer.

Other receivables
Other non-current receivables pertain to the amount advanced to PT Empat Kali Indonesia
based on the convertible note agreement entered into on 15 November 2019. In August
2020, the convertible note was settled and the Company received the total amount of
USD 100,000.
In 2019, the Group directly wrote off other receivables amounting to USD 130,000 due to
the bankruptcy of a third-party company which the Group had provided advances to.
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14. Cash on Hand and in Banks
This account consists of:
in USD

2020

2019

597

1,205

Cash
Cash on hand

Cash in banks
United States Dollar

383,919

286,262

Swiss Franc

78,609

–

Indonesian Rupiah

71,930

267,798

Korean Won

61,964

28,778

2,074

9,063

83
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Singapore Dollar
Hong Kong Dollar
Sub-total

598,579

591,952

Total

599,176

593,157

15. Trade and Other Payables
This account consists of:
2020

2019

2,020,934

2,223,540

in USD

Trade payables
Other payables
Total

189,371

228,331

2,210,305

2,451,871

Trade and other payables are non-interest-bearing amounts due to third-party suppliers for
the goods and services provided to the Group in the ordinary course of business.
The carrying amount of trade and other payables as of 31 December 2020 and 2019
approximates their fair values.

16. Accrued Expenses
This account consists of:
in USD

Salaries and wages

2020

2019

540,170

332,174

Others

397,437

141,625

Total

937,607

473,799

Group Financial Report

17.

Achiko Annual Report 2020

Post-employment Benefit Liabilities

The Group operates employee benefit plans for ACH and PTPI according to local requirements in Switzerland and Indonesia.
The reconciliation of post-employment benefit liabilities is as follows:

Consolidated
2020

2019

24,575

54,575

101,142

11,896

in USD

Beginning balance
Components recognised in profit or loss
Contributions

(61,876)

–

Components recognised in other comprehensive income

171,318

(43,613)

Foreign exchange difference
Ending balance

7,351

1,717

242,510

24,575

The components of post-employment benefit liabilities are as follows:

Consolidated
2020

2019

Present value of defined benefit obligation

1,220,482

24,575

Fair value of plan assets

(977,972)

–

242,510

24,575

in USD

Net balance

Details of post-employment benefit expenses recognised in the Consolidated Statement of
Profit and Loss and other Comprehensive Income are as follows:

Consolidated
in USD

2020

2019

Current service cost
Component recognised under salaries and wages (ACH contribution)

61,876

–

Component recognised under post-employment benefit expense

37,422

11,896

1,844

–

Component recognised in profit or loss (Note 6)

Interest cost

101,142

11,896

Actuarial gain (loss) from changes in financial assumptions

(18,959)

(12,253)

21,262

55,866

Actuarial gain (loss) from experience adjustments
Remeasurements
Return on plan asset
Component recognised in other comprehensive income

300,283

–

(131,268)

–

171,318

43,613
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ACH
ACH provides post-employment defined benefits to its employees in Switzerland according
to Swiss law.
As of 31 December 2020, ACH accrued post-employment defined benefit liabilities based
on the actuarial calculation prepared by the management using the “Projected Unit Credit”
method with the following main assumptions:
2020

Normal pension age

65 years

Discount rate

0.20%

Salary increase rate

0.50%

The movement in the present value of the defined benefit obligation is as follows:
in USD

2020

Current service cost
Component recognised under salaries and wages (ACH contribution)

61,876

Component recognised under post-employment benefit expense

13,043

Plan participants contribution
Interest cost

63,495
1,195

Transfer of pension plan

687,042

Remeasurement of post-employment benefit liabilities

300,283

Foreign exchange differences
Ending balance

39,417
1,166,351

The movement in the fair value of plan asset is as follows:
in USD

Interest income
Plan participation contribution
ACH contribution

2020

1,240
63,495
63,495

Transfer of pension plan

687,042

Return on plan asset

131,268

Administration charges

(1,619)

Foreign exchange differences

33,051

Ending balance

977,972
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Details of post-employment benefit expenses recognised in the Consolidated Statement of
Profit and Loss and Other Comprehensive Income are as follows:
in USD

Employee benefit expense
Net interest income
Component recognised in profit or loss

Remeasurement of post-employment benefit liabilities
Return of plan asset
Component recognised in other comprehensive income

2020

13,043
(45)
12,998

300,283
(131,268)
169,015

The management has reviewed the assumptions and agrees that these assumptions are
adequate. The management believes that the liability recognised is sufficient to cover ACH’s
liability for its retirement plan.
The average duration of the post-employment benefit liability as of 31 December 2020 is
9.4 years.
As of 31 December 2020, the sensitivity analysis of change in the assumed discount rate
and salary rate (with other variables held constant) would have the following effects in the
post-employment benefits liabilities:
in USD

2020

Discount rate
Increase 0.25 %
Decrease 0.25 %

(42,011)
45,505

Salary increase rate
Increase 0.25 %
Decrease 0.25 %

PTPI
PTPI provides post-employment defined benefits to its employees in accordance with the
minimum requirement under Law No. 13/2003 on “Manpower” under Indonesian jurisdiction.

6,428
(6,334)
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As of 31 December 2020 and 2019, PTPI accrued post-employment defined benefit liabilities based on the actuarial calculation prepared by the management, which uses the
“Projected Unit Credit” method with the following main assumptions:

Normal pension age

2020

2019

56 years

56 years

Discount rate
Salary increase rate

7.55%

8.10%

10.00%

10.00%

The movement in the present value of the defined benefit obligation is as follows:
2020

2019

Beginning balance

24,575

54,575

Current service cost

24,379

11,896

1,889

–

in USD

Interest cost
Actuarial gain (loss) from changes in financial assumptions
Actuarial gain (loss) from experience adjustments

18,959

12,253

(21,262)

(55,866)

Exchange rate
Ending balance

5,591

1,717

54,131

24,575

Details of post-employment benefit expenses recognised in the Consolidated Statement of
Profit and Loss and other Comprehensive Income are as follows:
2020

2019

24,379

11,896

1,889

–

Component recognised in profit or loss

26,268

11,896

Actuarial (gain) loss from changes in financial assumptions

18,959

12,253

in USD

Current service cost
Interest cost

Actuarial (gain) loss from experience adjustments
Component recognised in other comprehensive income

(21,262)

(55,866)

(2,303)

(43,613)

The management has reviewed the assumptions and agrees that these assumptions are
adequate. The management believes that the liability recognised is sufficient to cover the
Group’s liability for retirement plan.
The average duration of the post-employment benefit liability as of 31 December 2020 and
2019 are 25.40 years and 26.00 years, respectively.
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As of 31 December 2020 and 2019, the sensitivity analysis of change in the assumed discount rate and salary rate (with other variables held constant) would have the following effects:
2020

2019

Increase 1%

(8,238)

(4,894)

Decrease 1%

10,144

3,957

in USD

Discount rate

Salary increase rate
Increase 1%
Decrease 1%

9,795

2,666

(8,139)

(6,014)

18. Share Capital and Other Reserves
SHARE CAPITAL
2019
(as restated)

2020
Number of shares

USD

Number of shares

USD

Issued ordinary shares
At the inception date

2

–

2

–

Issued for cash (Note 23)

16,359,505

142,782

13,950,963

13,951

Issued for non-cash (Note 23)

89,771,018

126,444

75,681,177

75,681

–

852,930

–

–

106,130,525

1,122,156

89,632,142

89,632

Redenomination of shares
Total (Note 23)

As of 31 December 2020, the share capital of the Company amounts to CHF 1,058,318.05
and is divided into 105,831,805 registered shares with a par value of CHF 0.01. On
14 December 2020, USD 100,000 of the subordinated convertible loan with US-based fund
manager Yorkville Advisors Global LP (“Yorkville”) had been converted into 298,720 additional shares, which have been issued from the conditional capital for financing, acquisitions
and other purposes and have been subsequently registered. At the reporting date, the Company had issued a total amount of 106,130,525 ordinary shares with a par value of CHF 0.01
each, of which the amount fully paid-in totalled a share capital of CHF 1,061,305.25.
In 2020, as a result of the re-incorporation of the Company under Swiss law, the share capital
was redenominated from US$0.001 par value per share to CHF0.01 par value per share.
The Board of Directors is authorised to increase the share capital of the Company at any
time until 18 June 2022 with a maximum amount of CHF 17,267.65 by way of issuance
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of a maximum of 1,726,765 registered shares with a par value of CHF 0.01 each to be fully
paid-in as of 31 December 2020.
In addition, the Company had a total conditional share capital of 22,412,035 shares divided
into (i) 13,448,821 shares to exercise options under the Company’s employee stock option
plan (the “ESOP”) and (ii) 8,963,214 shares for financings, acquisitions and other purposes
including convertible loan facilities as of 31 December 2020.
Both the authorised and the conditional capital were increased at an extraordinary Shareholders Meeting on 11 February 2021.
In 2020, the Company increased its share capital by issuing 16,498,383 shares, of which
2,408,542 shares were issued for cash and 14,089,841 shares were issued to settle loans,
other payables and expenses.

SHARE PREMIUM
Details of the share premium are as follows:

2020

2019
(as restated)

Issued for cash (Note 23)

5,759,651

5,138,836

Issued for non-cash (Note 23)

9,321,562

6,507,061

(852,930)

–

14,228,283

11,645,897

2020

2019
(as restated)

5,194,775

106,186

in USD

Share premium from issued ordinary shares

Redenomination of shares
Total (Note 23)

OTHER RESERVES
Details of the other reserves are as follows:

in USD

Employee share option plan reserve (Note 23)
Share warrants

632,555

–

Translation difference

(77,793)

15,842

5,749,537

122,028

Total (Note 23)

i. Employee share option reserve
The employee share option reserve represents the equity-settled share options granted
to employees. The reserve is made up of the cumulative value of service received from
employees recorded over the vesting period commencing from the grant date of equitysettled share options and is reduced by the expiry or exercise of the share options.
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The share options granted are pursuant to the Company’s stock option plan adopted by
the Company on 3 August 2018, with its latest amendment on 22 November 2020, with
a vesting period ranging between 6 – 48 months. In addition, the vesting period was
accelerated by 6 – 12 months for certain employees when the Company was listed on SIX
Swiss Exchange.
The Company granted a total of 11,330,240 share options as of 31 December 2020. Vested
share options as of 31 December 2020 and 2019 amounted to 7,200,671 and 4,044,371
shares, respectively.
The fair values for share options granted during the year were calculated using the BlackScholes pricing model. The inputs into the model of the year of granting were as follows:

Weighted average share price

2020

2019
(as restated)

USD 0.442

USD 0.884

Expected volatility

218%

144%

Risk free rate

0.77%

1.99%

The volatility assumption, measured at the standard deviation of expected share price returns,
is based on a statistical analysis of daily share prices.
ii. Share warrant reserve
The share warrant reserve represents the 1,351,679 equity-settled warrants granted to
Negma in 2020, with the right to convert into one share per one warrant of the Company
within an exercise period of 5 years at a strike price of USD 0.34 to USD 1.09.
The fair values for share options granted during the year were calculated using the BlackScholes pricing model. The inputs into the model of the year of granting were as follows:
2020

Weighted average share price

USD 0.468

Expected volatility

211%

Risk free rate

0.28%

CAPITAL MANAGEMENT
The primary objective of capital management is to ensure that the Company maintains
healthy capital ratios in order to support its business and to maximise shareholder value.
The Company manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it in line with changes
in economic conditions. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Company may adjust
the dividend payment to shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issue new shares.
The Company’s capital consists of its share capital, share premium, and other reserves.
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19. Financial Instruments
FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
All financial assets and liabilities recognised in the Consolidated Statement of Financial
Position as of 31 December 2020 and 2019 approximate their fair values due to short-term
maturities of these financial instruments.
The Group uses the following three-level hierarchy for determining and disclosing fair value
of financial instruments by valuation technique:
– Level 1 – Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or
liabilities;
– Level 2 – Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the
fair value measurement is directly or indirectly observable; and
– Level 3 – Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the
fair value measurement is unobservable.
There were no transfers between levels or changes to the valuation techniques during the
period.

CATEGORIES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
in USD

2020

2019

Cash on hand and in banks

599,176

593,157

Trade and other receivables

54,111

392,823

–

100,000

92,805

–

2,210,305

2,451,871

937,607

473,799

2,166,206

–

FINANCIAL ASSETS
Financial assets at amortised cost
Current assets

Non-current asset
Other receivables

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
Embedded derivative liability on convertible subordinated loan

Financial liabilities at amortised cost
Trade and other payables
Accrued expenses
Convertible subordinated loan

Convertible Subordinated Loan
On 25 November 2020, the Company entered into a Convertible Subordinated Loan Facility
(the “Agreement”) with Yorkville (the “Creditor”). Except for interest payments, all claims of
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the Creditor against the Company under the Agreement are subordinated to the claims of
all other creditors of the Company, which are not equally subordinated.
The Creditor, at its sole and absolute discretion, may elect to convert any amount outstanding under the Agreement to the Company’s shares (the “Conversion Feature”). If the outstanding amount is not converted, the Company shall repay the total principal and interest
amounts one year after the utilisation date.
Management has identified two components in the convertible subordinated loan: (i) the
convertible subordinated loan as host contract; and (ii) a related embedded derivative liability.
The embedded derivative liability is determined from the Conversion Feature, arising from
the difference between the conversion price against the market price of shares at the date
of conversion.
The Conversion Feature satisfies the definition of a derivative as:
– The market price difference changes in response between the Company’s changes in
share price and conversion price;
– It requires a net investment that is smaller than otherwise would be required; and
– It is settled at a future date (at the date of conversion).
At initial recognition of the convertible subordinated loan, the embedded derivative liability
is first measured at fair value, determined by the difference between the fair value of the
Company’s shares against the conversion price, where the equivalent shares basis is estimated at full conversion of the convertible subordinated loan. The residual value is assigned
to the host contract.
Subsequent to initial recognition, the embedded derivative liability is measured at fair value
through profit or loss, with changes in fair value recognised directly in profit or loss. The
host contract is amortised using the straight line method over the term of the convertible
subordinated loan.
The reconciliation of the embedded derivative liability is as follows:
in USD

Fair value at inception of the Agreement

2020

255,048

Gain on changes in fair value

(162,243)

Fair value at end of the year

92,805
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The reconciliation of the convertible subordinated loan (host contract) is as follows:
in USD

Balance at inception of the Agreement
Interest amortised during the year

2020

2,244,952
21,254

Settlement during the year

(100,000)

Balance at end of the year

2,166,206

20. Financial Risk Management
FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
The Group, from its financial instruments, is exposed to certain financial risks such as market
risk (including currency risk and interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The operational activities of the Group are managed in a prudent manner by managing those risks to
minimise potential losses.
i. Currency risk
Currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument
will fluctuate due to changes in foreign currency exchange rates.
The Group does business transactions in several currencies and consequently is exposed
to currency risk. The Company does not have a hedging policy for foreign exchange currency. However, the management continuously monitors currency risk and will consider
hedging policies when significant currency risk arises.
In 2020 and 2019, the reasonably possible change in United States dollar against foreign
currency was 2.64 % and 2.23%, respectively. If the United States dollar had strengthened/
weakened by such a rate, with all other variables held constant, the post-tax profit in 2020
and 2019, would have increased/decreased by USD 54,895 and USD 38,906, respectively.
ii. Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or contractual future cash flows of a financial
instrument will fluctuate due to changes in market interest rates.
The Group is not exposed to interest rate risk as the Group’s financial instruments have
fixed interest rates.
iiI. Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk that a counterparty will not meet its obligations under a financial
instrument or customer contract, leading to a financial loss. The Group trades only with
recognised and creditworthy third parties.
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Bank accounts are held with financial institutions which are regulated and reputable.
The maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by the carrying amount of each class
of financial assets in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position, which comprises
cash on hand and in banks and all trade and other receivables. The Group does not hold
any collateral as security.
iv. Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will encounter difficulty in meeting financial
obligations due to a shortage of funds.
The Group’s exposure to liquidity risk arises primarily from mismatches in the maturities
of financial assets and liabilities.
The Group monitors its liquidity needs by closely monitoring scheduled debt servicing
payments for financial liabilities and its cash outflows due to day-to-day operations,
as well as ensuring the availability of funding through an adequate amount of credit
facilities, both committed and uncommitted.
As of 31 December 2020 and 2019, the maturity profile of Group’s financial liabilities based
on contractual undiscounted payments is less than one year.

21. Transactions and Balances with Related Parties
Related parties primarily comprise members of the Board of Directors, members of the
Advisory Board and members of the Executive Committee, and significant shareholders.
Transactions with related parties are carried out at arm’s length.
The following shareholders hold a participation of more than 3% of the issued share capital
of the Group’s ultimate parent Achiko AG:
2020

2019

13.20%

15.25%

PT Media Nusantara Citra Tbk

9.45%

11.16%

Neural Networks Limited

5.20%

6.14%

Swiss Merchant Group AG

–

7.81%

Simon Theobald (A.C.N. 059 457 279)

–

3.34%

in USD

Heracles Investment Group Limited
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The outstanding balance from related parties recognised in the Consolidated Statement of
Financial Position is as follows:
2020

2019

650,000

650,000

in USD

Prepaid expenses
PT Media Nusantara Citra Tbk

The following table shows the compensation of Key Management Personnel (members of
the Board of Directors, Advisory Board and Executive Committee):
2020

2019

1,504,768

882,249

421,802

6,441,942

1,926,570

7,324,191

in USD

Fees, salaries, and other short-term benefits
Share option based compensation
Total

22. Notes Supporting the Statement of Cash Flows
		
i. Cash paid to suppliers and others
Cash paid to suppliers and others include cash payments for interest on loans and a
promissory note amounting to USD 11,508 and USD 250,000 in 31 December 2020
and 2019, respectively.
There were no income taxes paid-in 2020 and 2019.
ii. Non-cash transactions from financing activities
Significant non-cash transactions from financing activities are as follows:

2020

2019
(as restated)

Settlement of other payables and expenses

1,763,347

403,134

Settlement of loans and promissory note

1,733,322

1,300,000

1,151

367,500

3,497,820

2,070,634

–

1,837,500

3,497,820

3,908,134

in USD

Issuance of share capital for:

Interest on loans and promissory note
Total non-cash transaction on the restatement (Note 23)
Vested employee share options
Total
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Restatement

The Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2019 were restated to correct
the disclosures of non-cash issuance of share capital, calculation of employee share options, and reversal of a share subscription in accordance with IFRS. In addition, the comparative presentation of operating, investing and financing activities were restated to conform with the current year presentation.
A summary of the figures as previously reported, adjustments and numbers after restatement are
as follows:

Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
in USD

Administrative expenses

2019 (as published)

Adjustment

2019 (as restated)

(5,807,132)

(390,935)

(6,198,067)

The restatement of the Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss is related to the correction of valuation of the employee share option reserve and valuation of shares issued to employees at listing date.

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position and Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
in USD

Explanatory notes

2019 (as published)

Adjustment

2019 (as restated)

(1)

1,609,823

(1,217,000)

392,823

Assets
Current assets
Trade and other receivables

Equity
Share capital
Share premium
Other reserves
Accumulated losses
Total equity attributable to owners of the Company

(1)

91,382

(1,750)

89,632

(1, 2)

11,220,522

425,375

11,645,897

(3)

1,371,718

(1,249,690)

122,028

(2, 3)

(10,774,111)

(390,935)

(11,165,046)

1,909,511

(1,217,000)

692,511

The restatement of the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position and Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity is related to
the following explanatory notes:
(1) Reversal of share subscription
(2) Correction of valuation of shares issued to employees at listing date; an
(3) Correction of valuation of the employee share option reserve.
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Share Capital
in USD

Explanatory notes

2019 (as published)

Adjustment

2019 (as restated)

Issued for cash

(1)

16,524,257

(2,573,294)

13,950,963

Issued for non-cash

(1)

73,107,883

2,573,294

75,681,177

Subscribed ordinary shares

(2)

1,750,000

(1,750,000)

–

Explanatory notes

2019 (as published)

Adjustment

2019 (as restated)

(1)

5,306,997

1,217,000

6,523,997

In number of shares:

The restatement of the Share Capital is related to the following explanatory notes:
(1) Correction of non-cash transactions from issuance of shares; and
(2) The reversal of share subscription.

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
in USD

Cash flow from operating activities
Cash received from customers
Cash paid to employees
Cash paid to suppliers and others

(2)

(2,096,313)

694,748

(1,401,565)

(2, 3, 4)

(10,680,618)

1,475,886

(9,204,732)

(7,469,934)

3,387,634

(4,082,300)

(4)

–

(100,000)

(100,000)

(5)

7,889,249

(3,287,634)

4,601,615

Net cash used in operating activities

Cash flow from investing activities
Increase in convertible notes

Cash flow from financing activities
Issuance of share capital

The restatement of the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows is related to the following explanatory notes:
(1) Reversal of share subscription;
(2) Correction of accrued salaries disclosed as “cash paid to suppliers” in 2019;
(3) Correction of accrued salaries and non-cash settlement of other payables and operating expenses;
(4) Reclassification of prior year presentation to conform with current year; and
(5) Reversal of share subsciption (USD 1,217,000) (1) and correction of non-cash transactions from issuance of shares
(USD 2,070,634)  (see Note 22).

Loss per Share
in USD

Loss for the year

2019 (as published)

Adjustment

2019 (as restated)

(6,923,894)

(390,935)

(7,314,829)

83,112,867

–

83,112,867

Outstanding weighted average number of shares
during the year
Basis loss per share

(0.08)

The restatement of Loss per Share is related to the correction of loss for the year for the valuation of the employee share option reserve and valuation of shares issued to employees
at listing date.

(0.09)
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24. Going Concern
As of 31 December 2020, the Group has recorded a net loss of USD 14,068,716 resulting
in an increase of the Group’s accumulated loss to USD 25,152,049. The ongoing Covid-19
pandemic continues to adversely impact many industries including the Group’s operations,
especially its existing payment service business. These conditions cause uncertainty over
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.
The Board of Directors and the management regularly assess the Group’s ability to continue
as a going concern and is of the opinion that the Group is to be viewed as continuing in business for the foreseeable future. The Consolidated Financial Statements have been prepared
on a going concern basis.
The Group is in a build-up phase and the ability to continue as going concern depends
materially on (i) the implementation of the Group’s strategy to transform into a healthtech company with the development of its operation and build-up of its distribution, and
(ii) additional successful fundraising.
The Group expects a positive impact from Teman Sehat, a mobile app with a digital passporting service, and AptameX, a non-invasive, saliva-based diagnostic test for the detection of
Covid-19. The Company holds exclusive commercialisation rights to the technology underlying AptameX from Regenacellx.sl, which may be used to detect all variants of Covid-19
and other pathogens.
In 2020, the Group ensured its financing with share subscriptions, convertible notes, capital
increases and other measures such as: (i) a share subscription for media placement with PT
Media Nusantara Citra Tbk (“MNC”) of USD 2 million in spring 2020, (ii) a convertible note
with Negma Group Ltd (“Negma”) of USD 2.2 (CHF 2.0) million on 16 July 2020, (iii) a capital
increase of USD 3.2 million on 31 October 2020 and USD 1 million on 11 December 2020, and
(iv) a convertible subordinated loan facility with US-based fund manager Yorkville Advisors
Global LP (“Yorkville”) of up to USD 12 million with a committed amount of USD 2.5 million
on 25 November 2020.
The MNC subscription is related to a media placement agreement for two years and will not
have an immediate cash impact. The Company utilised the convertible note with Negma
amounting to USD 1.7 (CHF 1.5) million, which was subsequently converted by Negma.
The shares issued were from the authorised share capital as part of the capital increase on
30 October 2020 and 11 December 2020. The capital increase has been used towards settling existing commitments, satisfying claims, and to support the updated strategy of the
Company. The committed amount of USD 2.5 million from Yorkville was received as a subordinated loan in December 2020. The first conversion of USD 0.1 million occured on 14 December 2020. This strengthens the financial situation of the Company as of 31 December 2020.
Subsequent to the reporting period, Yorkville converted an additional amount of USD 0.9
million in January 2021. The shares related to the conversion of the total of USD 1 million
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were subsequently registered on 16 March 2021. On 9 February 2021, the Group drew
down additional funds in the amount of USD 0.5 million and on 15 April 2021 another USD 0.5
million of the uncommitted Yorkville loan facility amount of USD 9.5 million. In addition, on
8 March 2021, the Group completed the subordinated loan facility of USD 1 (CHF 0.9) million
with Negma based on the binding term sheet announced on 30 November 2020. The convertible loan comes attached with an issuance of 1.5 million warrants. Each warrant confers
the right to purchase one registered share of the Company, has an exercise period between
the 30th and 360th day after the date of issuance of the warrants, and with an exercise price
of CHF 0.35. This replaces the convertible note agreement with Negma dated 16 July 2020.
However, the 1.4 million outstanding warrants based on the convertible note agreement
with Negma of 2020 remain in full force.
These measures were taken in order to ensure the continued financing of the Company’s
business. To further strengthen the Company’s financial restructuring efforts, the Board of
Directors proposed the extension of the Company’s authorised and conditional capital during the extraordinary shareholders meeting (the “ESM”) on 11 February 2021, which was
approved accordingly.
The use of the newly created capital is to facilitate existing and future financing arrangements such as with Yorkville and Negma. In addition, the renewal and extension of the
Company’s authorised and conditional capital will allow the Company to create the required
capacity and options to pursue a rights offering, other capital market transactions and
private placements of shares or convertible bonds or loans at a suitable time. A successful
implementation is essential for the going concern assumption.
With the implementation of the Group’s strategy to commercialise Teman Sehat and
AptameX, the management believes that the Group’s performance can gradually improve
both financially and operationally.
The Group continues to evaluate business strategies in terms of additional offerings with a
focus on Covid-19-related services to implement its transformation strategy.

25. Events after the Reporting Date
Extraordinary Shareholders Meeting
On 11 February 2021, the Company held an extraordinary Shareholders Meeting. The
shareholders approved the renewal of the authorised share capital in article 2.2 of the
Articles of Association (https://www.achiko.com/aoa/), authorising the Board of Directors
to increase the share capital at any time until 11 February 2023 by a maximum amount
of CHF 529,159.02 through issuance of 52,915,902 registered shares with a par value of
CHF 0.01 each, to be fully paid-in.
In addition, the shareholders approved the renewal of the conditional share capital in
articles 2.3 and 2.4 of the Articles of Association under the exclusion of the pre-subscription
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rights of the shareholders. Article 2.3 for employee participations allows for the issuance of
up to 19,049,725 fully paid-in registered shares with a par value of CHF 0.01 each, up to
an amount of CHF 190,497.25. Article 2.4 for financing, acquisitions and other purposes
allows for the issuance of up to 33,866,177 fully paid-in registered shares with a par value
of CHF 0.01 each, up to an amount of CHF 338,661.77.

Additional utilisation of the subordinated loan facility with Yorkville and conversion
On 9 February 2021, the Company utilised USD 0.5 million of the subordinated loan facility
with Yorkville and on 15 April 2021 another amount of USD 0.5 million. After these utilisations,
an unused, uncommitted amount of USD 8.5 million remains.

Convertible subordinated loan facility and warrant agreement with Negma
On 8 March 2021, the Company completed the subordinated loan facility of USD 1 (CHF 0.9)
million with Negma based on the binding term sheet announced on 30 November 2020.
The convertible loan comes attached with an issuance of 1.5 million warrants. Each warrant
confers the right to purchase one registered share of the Company, has an exercise period
between the 30th and 360th day after the date of issuance of the warrants, and with an exercise price of CHF 0.35. This replaces the convertible note agreement with Negma dated
16 July 2020. However, the 1.4 million outstanding warrants based on the convertible note
agreement with Negma of 2020 remain in full force.

Capital increase of converted conditional capital
On 16 March 2021, the Company registered 3,072,095 shares based on the conversion of
USD 1 million of the subordinated convertible loan by Yorkville. After the capital increase,
the share capital amounts to CHF 1,089,039.00 and is divided into 108,903,900 registered
shares with a par value of CHF 0.01 each. The conditional share capital pursuant to article 2.4
of the Articles of Association has been reduced accordingly to 30,794,082 shares.

Joint venture in Indonesia
On 12 February 2021, Achiko and PT Indonesia Farma Medis signed an agreement to establish the joint venture company PT Achiko Medika Indonesia for the production, distribution
and marketing of a non-invasive, saliva-based diagnostic test for the detection of Covid-19
(AptameX) for Indonesia. Achiko will hold 50% in the joint venture.

26. Authorisation of Consolidated Financial Statements
The Consolidated Financial Statements were authorised for issue by the Board of Directors of
the Company, who are responsible for the preparation and completion of the Consolidated
Financial Statements, on 26 April 2021.
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Report of the Statutory Auditor on the Group
Consolidated Financial Statements

Grant Thornton AG
Claridenstrasse 35
P.O. Box
CH-8027 Zürich
T +41 43 960 71 71
F +41 43 960 71 00
www.grantthornton.ch

Statutory Auditor’s Report
To the General Meeting of
Achiko AG, Zurich
Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Opinion
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Achiko AG and its subsidiaries (the Group), which
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2020 and the consolidated
statement of profit and loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity
and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting
policies, including the notes to the consolidated financial statements.
In our opinion the consolidated financial statement (pages 48 to 97) give a true and fair view of the
consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2020, and its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and comply with Swiss law.
Basis of the opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with Swiss law, International Standards on Auditing (ISAs) and Swiss
Auditing Standards. Our responsibilities under those provisions and standards are further described in the
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report.
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the provisions of Swiss law and the requirements of
the Swiss audit profession, as well as the International Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including
International Independence Standards) of the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants (IESBA
Code) and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion.
Material Uncertainty Related to Going Concern
We draw attention to Note 24 in the consolidated financial statements describing the unsatisfactory business
performance during the period. Its ability to continue as a going concern is dependent upon the
implementation of the Groups’ strategy to transform into a healthtech group, the development of its operation
and additional successful fundraising as well as continuing support of its creditors and shareholders. The
transformation depends on licensing, obtain product approvals and consequential sales. These facts
together with other matters disclosed in Note 24 indicates the existence of a material uncertainty that may
cast significant doubt about the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.

Zürich Schaan Genève Lausanne Buchs
Member of Grant Thornton International Ltd

CHE-107.841.337 HR/MWST
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During our audit, we considered whether the preparation of the consolidated financial statements using the
going concern basis of accounting and the presentation of the matters that may cast significant doubt on the
Groups’ ability to continue as a going concern, set out in the notes to the consolidated financial statements,
are appropriate. Our procedures, amongst others, included the following:
We reviewed the liquidity forecasts and assessed whether the liquidity forecasts are plausible, and
whether the board of directors plans are feasible in the circumstances of the situation.
We discussed with management and assessed the assumptions, judgements and estimates having
regard to the transformation into healthtech and future development of the Groups’ operation.
We critically assessed the prospects for the successful further fundraising and continuing utilization of
secured convertible loan facilities.
We satisfied ourselves of the appropriateness of the disclosure made in the consolidated financial
statements.
Our opinion is not qualified in respect of this matter.
Key Audit Matters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit
of the financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit
of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters.
Key Audit Matter

Auditor’s Reaction

Financial instruments classification, recognition and measurement in accordance with IFRS
The group has entered into convertible note
arrangements to obtain financing for its operations.
The accounting classification of a conversion
feature as either an equity instrument or as a
derivative can have a significant effect on the
group’s consolidated financial statements. The
conversion feature and its classification as
derivative liability can give rise to volatility in the
reported profit or loss. The group is required to
measure these derivatives financial liabilities at fair
value and applied valuation techniques to determine
the fair value of financial instruments not quoted in
an active market. Valuation results can vary
significantly when different valuation techniques and
assumptions are applied.
As at 31 December 2020, the financial liabilities of
the group measured at fair value included the USD
92,805 embedded derivative liability. The financial
liabilities carried at amortized cost amounted to
USD 2,166,206.
The financial instrument classification and
measurement requires the Group to assess and
interpret the substance of the complex contractual
agreements and requires calculations and decisions
that require significant judgements and assumptions
to be applied.

We have performed the following audit procedures:
We have assessed managements methods and
decisions taken to determine:
-

the correct debt / equity classification
separation of embedded derivatives from the
host contract
fair value measurements

In addition, we:
-

performed tests of inputs and performed a
mathematical accuracy check of the valuation
model
agreed the calculations to the recognized
financial liability
assessed the appropriateness of the
information on the financial instrument
disclosure
involved IFRS specialist to assist and reconfirm
the correct accounting treatment

We have therefore identified the financial instrument
classification, recognition and measurement as a
key audit matter.
The Group’s disclosure about its financial
instruments are detailed in Note 19.

Zürich Schaan Genève Lausanne Buchs
Member of Grant Thornton International Ltd

CHE-107.841.337 HR/MWST
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Key Audit Matter

Auditor’s Reaction

Restatement of Consolidated Financial Statements
The comparative figures of the consolidated We have performed the following audit procedures:
financial statements were restated to correct the
disclosure of non-cash issuance of share capital in discussed and reviewed the assumptions and
the statement of cash flows, the disclosure of shares
judgements applied and respective decisions
subscribed but not issued as well as the restatement
taken by management during the restatement
of employee share options.
process
Obtained the directors calculations of the
Because of the impact on the comparative
restatement values and performed substantive
disclosure, significant effect on the current year
testing on the values obtained
opening balances, estimates and judgement obtained an accounting opinion from our IFRS
involved, we regard the restatements and relating
accounting specialist on the accounting
accounting measurement in terms of IFRS as a key
treatment to be applied
audit matter.
assessed whether the disclosures of the
restatements are in accordance with the
The Group’s disclosure about its restatements are
requirements of IFRS
detailed in Note 23.
Other Matter
The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2019 were audited by
other auditors who expressed an unmodified opinion on those financial statements on 28 April 2020.
Other Information in the Annual Report
The Board of Directors is responsible for the other information in the annual report. The other information
comprises all information included in the annual report, but does not include the compensation report, the
consolidated financial statements, the stand-alone financial statements of the Company, and our auditor’s
reports thereon.
Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information in the annual
report and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.
In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other
information in the annual report and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a
material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report
in this regard.
Responsibility of the Board of Directors for the Consolidated Financial Statements
The Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give a
true and fair view in accordance with IFRS and the provisions of Swiss law, and for such internal control as
the Board of Directors determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the Board of Directors is responsible for assessing the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Board of Directors either intends to liquidate the
Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Zürich Schaan Genève Lausanne Buchs
Member of Grant Thornton International Ltd

CHE-107.841.337 HR/MWST
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Auditor’s Responsibility for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as
a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an
audit conducted in accordance with Swiss law, ISAs and Swiss Auditing Standards will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.
As part of an audit in accordance with Swiss law, ISAs and Swiss Auditing Standards, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:
-

-

-

-

-

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.
Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.
Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made.
Conclude on the appropriateness of the Board of Directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to
the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a
going concern.
Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.
Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the Group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Board of Directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing
of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.
We also provide the Board of Directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical
requirements regarding independence, and communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.

Zürich Schaan Genève Lausanne Buchs
Member of Grant Thornton International Ltd

CHE-107.841.337 HR/MWST
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From the matters communicated with the Board of Directors, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the
key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report, unless law or regulation precludes public
disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not
be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.
Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements
In accordance with article 728a para. 1item 3 CO and the Swiss Auditing Standard 890, we confirm that an
internal control system exists, which has been designed for the preparation of consolidated financial
statements according to the instructions of the Board of Directors.
We recommend that the consolidated financial statements submitted to you be approved.

Zurich, 26 April 2021
Grant Thornton AG

Hermann Caspers
Audit expert
Auditor in charge

Zürich Schaan Genève Lausanne Buchs
Member of Grant Thornton International Ltd

Dr. Shqiponja Isufi
Audit expert

CHE-107.841.337 HR/MWST
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Statutory Financial Statements of Achiko AG
Balance Sheet as of 31 December 2020

Assets
Current assets

Notes

2020
in USD

2020
in CHF

Cash and cash equivalents

360,492

317,743

Other current receivables

761,145

670,887

Due from third parties

124,002

109,299

Due from group companies (loans)

637,143

561,588

Prepaid expenses

3.1

Total current assets

666,384

587,361

1,788,021

1,575,991

144,762

127,595

Non-current assets
Investments

3.2

Property, plant and equipment
Total non-current assets
TOTAL ASSETS

830

732

145,592

128,327

1,933,613

1,704,318

2020
in USD

2020
in CHF

1,448,886

1,277,071

1,201,404

1,058,937

204,987

180,679

42,494

37,455

651,023

573,822

Liabilities and shareholders’ equity
Short-term liabilities

Notes

Trade payables
Due to third parties
Due to group companies
Due to shareholders
Other short-term liabilities
Due to third parties
Accrued expenses and deferred income
Total short-term liabilities

651,023

573,822

125,000

110,178

2,224,909

1,961,071

Long-term liabilities
2,400,000

2,115,398

Total long-term liabilities

Subordinated loan

3.3

2,400,000

2,115,398

TOTAL LIABILITIES

4,624,909

4,076,469

1,122,156

1,061,305

14,860,843

14,003,794

Shareholders’ equity
Share capital
Legal capital reserves

14,860,843

14,003,794

Loss carried forward

Reserve from capital contribution

(9,332,306)

(8,874,476)

Loss for the year

(9,341,990)

(8,522,188)

Translation reserve
Total shareholders’ equity
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

–

(40,586)

(2,691,295)

(2,372,151)

1,933,613

1,704,318
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Statement of Profit or Loss for the Year
Ended 31 December 2020

Notes

Income

Personal expenses
Research and development expenses
Quality management and regulatory affairs expenses
Other operating expenses

3.4

Depreciation, amortisation and impairment
Depreciation and amortisation
Impairment
Earnings before interest and taxes

Financial income

3.5

2020
in USD

2020
in CHF

–

–

(1,227,209)

(1,119,516)

(634,865)

(579,153)

(148,563)

(135,526)

(4,719,783)

(4,305,601)

(2,520,154)

(2,298,999)

(332)

(304)

(2,519,822)

(2,298,696)

(9,250,575)

(8,438,796)

2,905

2,650

Financial expenses

(94,319)

(86,042)

Financial result

(93,415)

(83,392)

(9,341,990)

(8,522,188)

Loss before taxes
Direct tax benefit (expense)
LOSS FOR THE YEAR

–

–

(9,341,990)

(8,522,188)
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Notes to the Statutory Financial Statements for the Year
Ended 31 December 2020

1. General Information
Achiko Limited (the “Company”), established on 25 May 2018, registered in the commercial
register of Zurich on 18 June 2020 with registered office in Zurich, Switzerland, is a publicly
listed company, whose shares have been traded on SIX Swiss Exchange since 8 November 2019.
Effective 18 June 2020, the Company: (i) relocated its domicile to Zurich, Switzerland;
(ii) re-incorporated under the laws of Switzerland without liquidation and new incorporation
in accordance with Art. 161 and 162 IPRG; and (iii) changed its name from Achiko Limited
to Achiko AG. Consequently, no comparative information is disclosed for the financial year
2019, as the Company was not subject to Swiss law in 2019. The disclosed information for the
financial year 2020 contains the full calendar year, as the Company was set under Swiss law
without liquidation and new incorporation to continue.
The number of full-time equivalents of employees did not exceed 10 on an annual average
basis during 2020.

Going concern
As of 31 December 2020, the Company has recorded a net loss of USD 9.3 (CHF 8.5) million
resulting in an increase of the Company’s accumulated loss to USD 18.6 (CHF 17.4) million.
The ongoing Covid-19 pandemic continues to adversely impact many industries including
the Company’s operations, especially its existing payment service business. These conditions
cause uncertainty over the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.
The Board of Directors and the management regularly assess the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern and is of the opinion that the Company and the Group are to be
viewed as continuing in business for the foreseeable future. The Statutory Financial Statements have been prepared on a going concern basis.
The Company is in a build-up phase and the ability to continue as going concern depends
materially on (i) the implementation of the Group’s strategy to transform into a healthtech Company with the development of its operation and build-up of its distribution, and
(ii) additional successful fundraising.
The Group expects a positive impact from Teman Sehat, a mobile app with a digital passporting service, and AptameX, a non-invasive, saliva-based diagnostic test for the detection
of Covid-19. The Company holds exclusive commercialisation rights to the technology underlying AptameX from Regenacellx.sl, which may be used to detect all variants of Covid-19 and
other pathogens.
In 2020, the Company ensured its financing with share subscriptions, convertible notes, capital increases and other measures such as: (i) a share subscription for media placement with
PT Media Nusantara Citra Tbk (“MNC”) of USD 2 million in spring 2020, (ii) a convertible note
with Negma Group Ltd (“Negma”) of USD 2.2 (CHF 2.0) million on 16 July 2020, (iii) a capital

Statutory Financial Statements

increase of USD 3.2 million on 31 October 2020 and USD 1 million on 11 December 2020, and
(iv) a convertible subordinated loan facility with US-based fund manager Yorkville Advisors
Global LP (“Yorkville”) of up to USD 12 million with a committed amount of USD 2.5 million
on 25 November 2020.
The MNC subscription is related to a media placement agreement for two years and will not
have an immediate cash impact. The Company utilised the convertible note with Negma
amounting to USD 1.7 (CHF 1.5) million, which was subsequently converted by Negma.
The shares issued were from the authorised share capital as part of the capital increase on
30 October 2020 and 11 December 2020. The capital increase has been used towards settling
existing commitments, satisfying claims, and to support the updated strategy of the Company.
The committed amount of USD 2.5 million from Yorkville was received as a subordinated loan
in December 2020. The first conversion of USD 0.1 million occurred on 14 December 2020. This
strengthens the financial situation of the Company as of 31 December 2020.
Subsequent to the reporting period, Yorkville converted an additional amount of USD 0.9 million in January 2021. The shares related to the conversion of the total of USD 1 million were
subsequently registered on 16 March 2021. On 9 February 2021, the Company drew down
additional funds in the amount of USD 0.5 million and on 15 April 2021 another USD 0.5 million of the uncommitted Yorkville loan facility amount of USD 9.5 million. In addition, on
8 March 2021, the Company completed the subordinated loan facility of USD 1 (CHF 0.9)
million with Negma based on the binding term sheet announced on 30 November 2020.
The convertible loan comes attached with an issuance of 1.5 million warrants. Each warrant
confers the right to purchase one registered share of the Company, has an exercise period
between the 30th and 360th day after the date of issuance of the warrants, and with an exercise price of CHF 0.35. This replaces the convertible note agreement with Negma dated
16 July 2020. However, the 1.4 million outstanding warrants based on the convertible note
agreement with Negma of 2020 remain in full force.
These measures were taken in order to ensure the continued financing of the Company’s
business. To further strengthen the Company’s financial restructuring efforts, the Board
of Directors proposed the extension of the Company’s authorised and conditional capital
during the extraordinary Shareholders Meeting (the “ESM”) on 11 February 2021, which was
approved accordingly.
The use of the newly created capital is to facilitate existing and future financing arrangements such as with Yorkville and Negma. In addition, the renewal and extension of the
Company’s authorised and conditional capital will allow the Company to create the required
capacity and options to pursue a rights offering, other capital market transactions and
private placements of shares or convertible bonds or loans at a suitable time. A successful
implementation is essential for the going concern assumption.
With the implementation of the Group’s strategy to commercialise Teman Sehat and
AptameX, the management believes that the Group’s performance can gradually improve
both financially and operationally.
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The Group continues to evaluate business strategies in terms of additional offerings with a
focus on Covid-19-related services to implement its transformation strategy.

2. Accounting Principles Applied in the Preparation of
the Financial Statements
These Financial Statements have been prepared in accordance with the provisions of commercial accounting as set out in the Swiss Code of Obligations (Art. 957 to 963b CO).
The preparation of Financial Statements requires the Board of Directors to make estimates
and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, contingent liabilities,
revenue and expenses. The Board of Directors uses judgment in applying the Company’s
accounting policies. Depreciations, write-downs and provisions exceeding the economically
necessary amounts can be accounted for based on prudence considerations.
Significant balance sheet items are accounted for as follows:

Receivables
Receivables are carried at their nominal value. Impairment charges are calculated for these
assets on an individual basis.

Investments
Investments are carried at cost. Investments are tested for impairment once a year.

Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment is carried at cost or manufacturing cost less depreciation.
Depreciation is calculated on the basis of the straight-line method according to the useful
life of the asset.

Liabilities
Liabilities are valued at nominal value.

Recognition of revenue
Revenues comprise all proceeds from the sale of products and services. Revenues are calculated on the basis of the product or service actually provided to the customer up to the
balance sheet date. These revenues are recognised if the amount of revenue can be reliably
measured and it is sufficiently probable that the economic benefits will flow to the company.
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Foreign currencies
Items are translated into USD using exchange rates of the transaction dates. Resulting foreign exchange differences are recognised in profit or loss. The rates used to translate from
CHF to USD are as follows:
2020

Income statement average rate

0.91

Balance sheet period-end rate

0.88

Additional disclosures, Statement of Cash Flows and Status Report
In accordance with Art. 961d, Paragraph 1, of the Swiss Code of Obligations, additional
disclosures, the Statement of Cash Flows and the Status Report are dispensed with, as the
Company presents its Consolidated Financial Statements in accordance with a generally
accepted financial reporting standard.

3. Details, Analyses and Explanations
3.1 Prepaid Expenses
Prepaid expenses represent mainly a media placement value from PT Media Nusatara Citra
Tbk in the amount of USD 650,000.

3.2 Investments
Subsidiary

City, Country

Percentage of
direct ownership
2020

Achiko Switzerland AG (ACH)

Switzerland

100.00%

Investment
in USD
2020

Mimopay conisting of
Gamespark Interactive Limited (GP)

Hong Kong

100.00%

Globimedia Network Pte. Ltd. (GMN)

Singapore

100.00%

PT Progressivmedia Indonesia (PTPI)

Jakarta, Indonesia

0.00%1

Seoul, South Korea

100.00%

Kryptonite Korea Co., Ltd. (KN)
TOTAL

1. PTPI is a 100% controlled so-called variable interest entity (“VIE”) incorporated in Indonesia.

The investments are prudently impaired due to ongoing loss situations.

3.3 Subordinated Loan
On 25 November 2020, the Company entered into a Subordinated Loan Facility (the “Agreement”) with Yorkville (the “Creditor”) for a maximum financing amount of USD 12 million.
Except for interest payments, all claims of the Creditor against the Company under the
Agreement are subordinated to the claims of all other creditors of the Company, which are
not equally subordinated.

Investment
in CHF
2020

57,428

50,618

87,334

76,977

–

–

–

–

87,334

76,977

–

–

144,762

127,595
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The Creditor, at its sole and absolute discretion, may elect to convert any amount outstanding under the Agreement to the Company’s shares. If the outstanding amount is not converted, the Company shall repay the total principal and interest amounts one year after the
utilisation date.
USD 2.5 million has been committed by the Creditor and the Company received this amount
in December 2020. The Creditor has converted USD 100,000 of the outstanding loan, for
which the Company has subsequently issued 298,720 shares.

3.4 Other Operating Expenses

Legal and professional expenses

2020
in USD

2020
in CHF

3,660,708

3,339,464

Financing and listing expenses

774,020

706,096

Public relations and investor relations expenses

199,615

182,098

Marketing expenses

27,839

25,396

Travel and transportation expenses

17,742

16,185

Office expenses
Other operating expenses

39,859

36,362

4,719,783

4,305,601

2020
in USD

2020
in CHF

1,604,050

1,463,287

915,772

835,409

2,519,822

2,298,696

3.5 Impairment

Impairment of investments
Impairment of loan to Globimedia
Impairment expenses

3.6 Significant Shareholders
The following shareholders held a participation of more than 3% of the issued share capital
of the Company:
2020

Heracles Investment Group Limited

13.20%

PT Media Nusantara Citra Tbk

9.45%

Neural Networks Limited

5.20%

The percentage is calculated on the total number of shares recorded in the commercial
register as of 31 December 2020, which amounted to 105,831,805.
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3.7 S
 hares and Options Held by Management, Administrative
Bodies and Employees as of 31 December 2020
Number

in USD

in CHF

2020

2020

2020

14,786,612

5,267,943

4,643,249

187,500

66,800

58,879

Members of the Board of Directors, Advisory Board and Executive Board

6,990,240

5,794,899

5,107,717

Employees of Achiko AG and its subsidiaries according to the employee stock option plan

4,340,000

1,533,436

1,351,595

Shares
Members of the Board of Directors, Advisory Board and Executive Board
Employees of Achiko AG

Options

3.8 Significant Events Occurring after the Balance Sheet Date
Extraordinary Shareholders Meeting
On 11 February 2021, the Company held an extraordinary Shareholders Meeting. The shareholders approved the renewal of the authorised share capital in article 2.2 of the Articles of
Association (https://www.achiko.com/aoa/), authorising the Board of Directors to increase
the share capital at any time until 11 February 2023 by a maximum amount of CHF 529,159.02
through issuance of 52,915,902 registered shares with a par value of CHF 0.01 each, to be fully
paid-in.
In addition, the shareholders approved the renewal of the conditional share capital in articles
2.3 and 2.4 of the Articles of Association under the exclusion of the pre-subscription rights
of the shareholders. Article 2.3 for employee participations allows for the issuance of up to
19,049,725 fully paid-in registered shares with a par value of CHF 0.01 each, up to an amount
of CHF 190,497.25. Article 2.4 for financing, acquisitions and other purposes allows for the
issuance of up to 33,866,177 fully paid-in registered shares with a par value of CHF 0.01 each,
up to an amount of CHF 338,661.77.

Additional utilisation of the subordinated loan facility with Yorkville and conversion
On 9 February 2021, the Company utilised USD 0.5 million of the subordinated loan facility
with Yorkville and on 15 April 2021, another amount of USD 0.5 million. After these utilisations,
an unused, uncommitted amount of USD 8.5 million remains.

Convertible subordinated loan facility and warrant agreement with Negma
On 8 March 2021, the Company completed the subordinated loan facility of USD 1 (CHF 0.9) million with Negma based on the binding term sheet announced 30 November 2020. The convertible loan comes attached with an issuance of 1.5 million warrants. Each warrant confers
the right to purchase one registered share of the Company, has an exercise period between
the 30th and 360th day after the date of issuance of the warrants, and with an exercise price
of CHF 0.35. This replaces the convertible note agreement with Negma dated 16 July 2020.
However, the 1.4 million outstanding warrants based on the convertible note agreement
with Negma of 2020 remain in full force.
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Capital increase of converted conditional capital
On 16 March 2021, the Company registered 3,072,095 shares based on the conversion of
USD 1 million of the subordinated convertible loan by Yorkville. After the capital increase, the
share capital amounts to CHF 1,089,039.00 and is divided into 108,903,900 registered shares
with a par value of CHF 0.01 each. The conditional share capital pursuant to article 2.4 of the
Articles of Association has been reduced accordingly to 30,794,082 shares.

Joint venture in Indonesia
On 12 February 2021, Achiko and PT Indonesia Farma Medis signed an agreement to establish the joint venture company PT Achiko Medika Indonesia for the production, distribution
and marketing of a non-invasive, saliva-based diagnostic test for the detection of Covid-19
(AptameX) for Indonesia. Achiko will hold 50% in the joint venture.

3.9 Accumulated Losses Carried Forward
2020
in USD

2020
in CHF

Accumulated losses

(9,332,306)

(8,874,476)

Result for the year

(9,341,990)

(8,522,188)

–

(40,586)

(18,674,296)

(17,437,250)

Translation reserve
The equity position is
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Report of the Statutory Auditor on the Statutory
Financial Statements

Grant Thornton AG
Claridenstrasse 35
P.O. Box
CH-8027 Zürich
T +41 43 960 71 71
F +41 43 960 71 00
www.grantthornton.ch

Report of the Statutory Auditor
To the General Meeting of the Shareholders of
Achiko AG, Zurich

Report of the Statutory Auditor on the Financial Statements
As statutory auditor, we have audited the financial statements (pages 104 to 112) of Achiko AG, which
comprise the balance sheet as 31 December 2020, and the income statement and notes for the year then
ended 31 December 2020.
Board of Directors’ Responsibility
The Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation of the financial statements in accordance with the
requirements of Swiss law and the company’s articles of incorporation. This responsibility includes designing,
implementing, and maintaining an internal control system relevant to the preparation of financial statements
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. The Board of Directors is further
responsible for selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies and making accounting estimates that
are reasonable in the circumstances.
Auditor’s Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted
our audit in accordance with Swiss law and Swiss Auditing Standards. Those standards require that we plan
and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are free from material
misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment
of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making
those risk assessments, the auditor considers the internal control system relevant to the entity’s preparation
of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control system. An
audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates made, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit
opinion.

Zürich Schaan Genève Lausanne Buchs
Member of Grant Thornton International Ltd

CHE-107.841.337 HR/MWST
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Opinion
In our opinion, the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2020 comply with Swiss law and
the company’s articles of incorporation.
Material Uncertainty Related to Going Concern
We draw attention to Note 1 in the financial statements describing the unsatisfactory business performance
during the period. Its ability to continue as a going concern is dependent upon the implementation of the
Company’s strategy to transform into a healthtech company, the development of its operation and additional
successful fundraising as well as continuing support of its creditors and shareholders. The transformation
depends on licensing, obtain product approvals and consequential sales. These facts together with other
matters disclosed in Note 1 indicates the existence of a material uncertainty that may cast significant doubt
about the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.
During our audit, we considered whether the preparation of the financial statements using the going concern
basis of accounting and the presentation of the matters that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s
ability to continue as a going concern set out in the notes to the financial statements are appropriate. Our
procedures, amongst others, included the following:
We reviewed the liquidity forecasts and assessed whether the liquidity forecasts are plausible, and
whether the board of directors plans are feasible in the circumstances of the situation.
We discussed with management and assessed the assumptions, judgements and estimates having
regard to the transformation into healthtech and future development of the Groups’ operation.
We critically assessed the prospects for the successful further fundraising and continuing utilization of
secured convertible loan facilities.
We satisfied ourselves of the appropriateness of the disclosure made in the statutory financial
statements.
Our opinion is not qualified in respect of this matter.
Report on Key Audit Matters based on the circular 1/2015 of the Federal Audit Oversight Authority
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit
of the financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit
of the financial statements, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters.
As in all of our audits, we also addressed the risk of management override of internal controls, including
among other matters consideration of whether there was evidence of bias that represented a risk of material
misstatement due to fraud.
In addition to matter described in paragraph above “Material uncertainties related to going concern” we have
concluded that the matter listed below is a key audit matter.

Zürich Schaan Genève Lausanne Buchs
Member of Grant Thornton International Ltd

CHE-107.841.337 HR/MWST
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Auditor’s Reaction

Valuation of investments in and loans due from subsidiaries
As of 31 December 2020, total assets include
investments in the amount of USD 144,762 and
loans due from subsidiaries in the amount of USD
637,143. Due to the extent of these positions as well
as significant management judgement and
estimates, we consider the recoverability
assessment of investments and loans to group
companies to be a key audit matter.
Management compares the net book values of the
individual investments to the company’s share in the
net assets of the respective subsidiaries. If the net
book value exceeded the net assets or if other
impairment indicators were identified, management
evaluated the respective investments, loans and
accounts receivables for impairment. The
impairment evaluation involves judgement, in
particular with regard to estimates concerning
revenue growth and successful future market
developments and assumptions about the
development of macroeconomic factors are also
taken into account. As a result of the impairment and
recoverability assessments, impairments were
recognized on investments and loans to group
companies for the year ended 31 December 2020.

We have performed the following audit procedures:
we obtained managements impairment
evaluation and obtained an understanding of
the impairment and methodology applied
we evaluated the reasonableness of the key
judgements and estimates applied by
management during the impairment evaluation
process
we evaluated the completeness, accuracy and
relevance of data used for the impairment
evaluation
we inspected the financial position and
performance of the subsidiary to evaluate the
completeness of management’s impairment
assessment and to identify whether there were
any additional indicators of impairment
we assessed the appropriateness of the
disclosure made in the financial statements

Further information on investments and related
impairments are described in notes 3.2 and 3.5 to
the statutory financial statements.
Other Information in the Annual Report
No comparative figures are presented as these are the first financial statements prepared under Swiss law.
Effective 18 June 2020, the Company relocated its domicile to Zurich, Switzerland and was re-incorporated
under the laws of Switzerland without liquidation and new incorporation in accordance with Art. 161 and 162
IPRG.
Report on Other Legal Requirements
We confirm that we meet the legal requirements on licensing according to the Auditor Oversight Act (AOA)
and independence (article 728 Code of Obligations (CO) and article 11 AOA) and that there are no
circumstances incompatible with our independence.
In accordance with article 728a paragraph 1 item 3 CO and Swiss Auditing Standard 890, we confirm that
an internal control system exists, which has been designed for the preparation of financial statements
according to the instructions of Board of Directors.

Zürich Schaan Genève Lausanne Buchs
Member of Grant Thornton International Ltd

CHE-107.841.337 HR/MWST
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We recommend that the financial statements submitted to you be approved.
We draw attention to the fact that Achiko AG is over-indebted as per article 725 para. 2 CO. Due to the fact
that the company's creditors subordinated their claims amounting to USD 2,400,000 as at 31 December
2020 and additional subordinated loans received after year end, amounting to USD 2,000,000, the Board of
Directors has refrained from notifying the court.

Zurich, 26 April 2021
Grant Thornton AG

Hermann Caspers
Audit expert
Auditor in charge

Zürich Schaan Genève Lausanne Buchs
Member of Grant Thornton International Ltd

Dr. Shqiponja Isufi
Audit expert
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Note on possible future-oriented statements
This report contains statements that constitute forward-looking
statements. In addition, in the future, Achiko AG, and others on Achiko
AG’s behalf, may make statements that constitute forward-looking
statements. Such forward-looking statements may include, but are not
limited to, statements relating to the following:
– plans, targets or goals;
– future economic performance or prospects;
– the potential effect on future performance of certain contingencies;
and
– assumptions underlying any such statements.
Words such as “believes,” “anticipates,” “expects,” “intends” and “plans”
and similar expressions are intended to identify forward-looking
statements but are not the exclusive means of identifying such
statements. Achiko AG does not intend to update these forward-looking
statements.
By their very nature, forward-looking statements involve inherent risks
and uncertainties, both general and specific, and risks exist that
predictions, forecasts, projections and other outcomes described or
implied in forward-looking statements will not be achieved. Achiko AG
cautions the reader that a number of important factors could cause
results to differ materially from the plans, targets, goals, expectations,
estimates and intentions expressed in such forward-looking statements.
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